### The human telomere and its relationship to human disease, therapy, and tissue engineering

# Ian K. Moon, Michael B. Jarstfer

University of North Carolina, School of Pharmacy, Division of Medicinal Chemistry and Natural Products Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599-7360

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. The telomere
- 3. Biological roles of the telomere
- 4. Replication of telomeric DNA
  - 4.1. Telomere maintenance by telomerase
  - 4.2. Telomere maintenance by ALT
- 5. The structure of the telomere
- 6. Telomere associated proteins
  - 6.1. Telomerase
  - 6.2. TRF1 controls telomere length
  - 6.3. TRF2 guards and shapes the end
  - 6.4. POT1 is the human single stranded telomeric DNA binding protein
  - 6.5. TIN2 and TPP1 anchor the telomere-binding proteins in a functional complex
  - 6.6. RAP1
  - 6.7. Telomere-associated proteins not uniquely associated with the telomere
- 7. The structure of telomeric DNA

7.1. Single-stranded telomeric DNA forms G-quadruplexes

- 7.2. In vivo relevance of G-quadruplex structures of telomeric DNA
- 7.3. Proteins that interact with G-quadruplex structures of telomeric DNA
- 8. The relationship of the telomere to cancer and aging
  - 8.1. Implications of telomere biology on cancer
    - 8.2. Implications of telomere biology on aging
- 9. Diseases associated with deficiencies in telomere maintenance
  - 9.1. Telomerase deficiency and deregulation in human disease
    - 9.2. Diseases associated with telomere processing
- 10. Telomere maintenance as a drug target
- 11. Telomere maintenance and advances in tissue engineering
- 12. Perspectives
- 13. Acknowledgements
- 14. References

# 1. ABSTRACT

The chromosomes of eukaryotes end in a specialized complex of proteins and repetitive DNA called the telomere. Telomeres form a protective cap that prevents chromosome fusions, protects chromosome ends from degradation, and assists in positioning chromosomes in the nucleus. In the absence of replenishing mechanisms, telomeric DNA is lost during each cell cycle owing to incomplete replication, oxidative damage, and nucleolytic degradation. The ribonucleoprotein complex telomerase offsets this loss of telomeric DNA, but its activity is absent in most differentiated human cells. Thus, the aging process results in ever shortening lengths of telomeric DNA. Related to this is the requirement for a mechanism of telomeric DNA maintenance in tumors, leading to telomerase expression in >85% of all cancers cells. The integral roles of telomere biology in these pathophysiological states have substantially motivated its investigation. Here, the literature on the human telomere will be reviewed with an emphasis on the relationship to human health.

#### 2. THE TELOMERE

Linear chromosomes present a significant challenge to cellular life. Left unattended, the ends of linear chromosomes, called telomeres, appear as DNA strand breaks leading to untoward repair, and they are susceptible to erosion by incomplete replication and nucleolytic degradation (1-3). These issues require a significant amount of extra energy to ensure proper telomere maintenance. Despite these problems, all higher organisms, some viruses and some bacteria maintain their DNA as linear chromosomes (4). The results of several studies suggest that telomeres, and therefore linear DNA, are essential for successful meiosis in eukaryotes and are therefore a requirement for sexual reproduction (5, 6). Thus the advantages inherent in sexual reproduction provided by linear chromosomes offsets the penalty inherent in stabilizing and maintaining their ends, at least in higher organisms.

Telomeres, the physical ends of linear chromosomes, are composed of non-coding DNA and

Group	Organism	Telomere length, dsDNA	Telomere Length, G-overhang	Telomere sequence (3' strand, orientated 5'-3')
Vertebrate	Human	5 - 15 kb	60-600 nt	TTAGGG
Vertebrate	Lab mouse	~30 to 120 kb	150-200 nt	TTAGGG
Filamentous fungi	Neurospora crassa	~150 bp	ND	TTAGGG
Filamentous fungi	Didymium	100-400 bp	ND	TTAGGG
Kinetoplastid protozoa	Trypanosoma brucei	3 - 20 kb	< 30 nt	TTAGGG
Ciliate	Tetrahymena	250-400 bp	14-15 or 20-21 nt	TTGGGG
Ciliate	Euplotes	exactly 28 bp	exactly 14 nt	TTTTGGGG
Higher plant	Arabidopsis thaliana	2.5 - 5 kb	>20-30 nt	TTAGGG(T/C)
Green algae	Chlamydomonas	300-350 bp	ND	TTTAGGG
Insect	Bombyx mori	6 - 8 kb	ND	TTAGG
Roundworm	C. elegans	2-4 kb	ND	TTAC(A)(C)G(1-8)
Budding yeast	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	~300 ± 75 bp	12-16 nt (50 - 100 nt at the end of S phase)	G(2-3)(TG)(1-6)T
Budding yeast	Candida albicans	0.5 - 2.5 kb	ND	GGTGTACGGATGTCTAACTTCTT

**Table 1.** Telomere sequences and lengths among telomerase-dependent organisms

specific telomere-associated proteins. In the vast majority of eukaryotes, the telomeric DNA is composed of short repetitive sequences that are rich in guanosine. Specifically, telomeric DNA is G-rich in the strand pointing toward the 3'end of the chromosome, and contains a double stranded region followed by a single strand of the G-rich sequence forming a 3' overhang. The length of the double stranded region, the length of the single strand overhang, and the sequence of the repeat unit is species dependent. For example humans have 5,000-15,000 base pairs of telomeric DNA, depending on tissues and donor age, with the sequence 5'-TTAGGG/CCCTAA followed by a 60-600 nucleotide overhang (Table 1) (7, 8). In this chapter, the structure of the telomere will be discussed with an emphasis on human telomeres and the role that telomere structure and its constituent parts play in human disease, therapeutics and tissue engineering.

# **3. BIOLOGICAL ROLES OF THE TELOMERE**

Telomeres have several roles in ensuring chromosome integrity. The primary role of the telomere is to mask the chromosome ends from the DNA repair machinery that would otherwise recognize them as double strand breaks or homologous recombination intermediates (1, 3, 9). This end capping is the result of several pathways including repression of non-homologous end joining, DNA damage signaling and homologous recombination, and control of telomere processing after DNA replication. Loss of telomeric DNA, a change in the telomeric DNA sequence, or the loss or mutation of telomere proteins prevents proper end capping leading to rapid growth arrest, genetic instability, or cell death. Another role of the telomere involves DNA replication. Normal DNA polymerases cannot efficiently replicate the ends of linear DNA molecules, resulting in the loss of telomeric DNA during each cell cycle. To overcome the loss of DNA, the telomere serves as a substrate for a specialized DNA replication enzyme called telomerase (10), which replenishes telomeric DNA by synthesizing the G-strand. The C-strand is synthesized by the normal DNA replication machinery. Aside from the specific role of the telomere in chromosome-end maintenance, telomeres also function in a broader architectural manner (11-13). Telomeres are associated in the nuclei of human cells, which is increased in quiescent cells and appear to have a cell-cycle dependence (12). Though yet to be proven, it has been proposed that these associations are involved in promoting genetic stability.

Telomeres also play an important role in meiosis by functioning in the meiosis-related nuclear reorganization that facilitates homolog recognition, owing in part to their role in forming the telomere bouquet during zygotene. In the yeasts Schizosaccharomyces pombe (14) and Saccharomyces cerevisiae (15) and in maize (16), for example, mutations that alter telomere structure and prevent telomere bouquet formation also cause inefficient homologous chromosome pairing, induce aberrant chromosome segregation, and in S. pombe cause defective sporulation (17, 18). Similarly, in the organism Caenorhabditis elegans, telomere shortening leads to failed segregation of meiotic chromosomes (19). The end result is the formation of infertile gametes. Such effects have not been directly observed in humans; however, the telomerase negative mouse model becomes sterile after several generations suggesting a tie between telomere function and proper meiosis in mammals (20).

The cellular roles of the telomere are clearly manifested in human physiology with ramifications on development (21), aging (22), and tumorigenicity (3). Cellular replication is controlled in part by telomere structure, which is affected by telomere length. Thus, telomere length serves as a mitotic clock that regulates replicative senescence. In healthy individuals, replicative senescence is hypothesized to serve as a mechanism to protect against uncontrolled cell growth related to neoplastic growth. However, the telomere-related mechanisms governing replicative senescence also affect aging and age-related disorders, as evidenced by the direct correlation between telomere length and geriatricassociated disease states. The relationship between telomere maintenance and human health will be explored in detail below with specific attention to the telomereassociated proteins and the structure of telomeric DNA.

#### 4. REPLICATION OF TELOMERIC DNA

Two issues regarding the complete replication of telomeric DNA must be overcome by eukaryotes. First, telomeres contain 3' overhangs, which cannot be produced by leading strand DNA synthesis (Figure 1) (23). Second, the lagging strand synthesis cannot fully replicate the very 5' ends, the so called "end-replication problem" (24, 25). Replication of linear chromosomes is characterized by the progression of a replication fork and coordinated synthesis



**Figure 1**. Chromosome end replication must overcome two problems. Lagging strand DNA synthesis does not complete the replication of the 5' end resulting in a 3' overhang, which could contribute to loss of telomeric DNA. Complete leading strand DNA synthesis results in a blunt end though the mature structure contains a 3' overhang. Parental DNA is indicated as either red or blue, and replicated DNA is black. Arrows show the direction of the replication fork.

of the leading and lagging strands. Since replication can only occur in a 5'-3' direction, only the leading strand synthesis moves in the direction of the fork and can continue until the end of a chromosome is reached. Unless the polymerase recognizes the end and stops, leading strand synthesis gives rise to a blunt-ended double stranded product, disallowing the production of the 3' overhang, which is an integral component the telomere structure. The lagging strand, by contrast, is synthesized in a discontinuous fashion, in which RNA primers synthesized by DNA primase are used as substrates to synthesize short Okazaki fragments. Due to the requirement of a template, it is impossible for an Okazaki fragment to be synthesized using the very 3' end of the chromosome as the template, as there can be no RNA primer produced, thus the incomplete replication of the 3' end of the chromosomes. Even if the RNA primer were produced exactly at the extreme 3' end, removal of the primer would result in the loss of 8-10 nucleotides. In addition to this end replication problem, oxidative damage and nucleolytic processing result in the shortening of eukaryotic telomeres by 50-200 nt during each cell cycle, and the rate of telomere shortening is proportional to the size of the 3' overhang (7).

### 4.1. Telomere maintenance by telomerase

The ribonucleoprotein complex telomerase helps solve both the lagging and leading strand problems associated with reproduction of telomeric DNA (10). Telomerase functions as a reverse transcriptase by using a portion of its integral RNA subunit as the template and the 3' end of the chromosome as a primer for the synthesis of the G-rich strand of the telomeric DNA. Thus, the loss of telomeric DNA can be overcome by extension of the 3' end by telomerase. Furthermore, telomerase synthesizes single

stranded DNA, thus it can produce a 3' overhang. However, the biochemical requirement of telomerase for a single strand DNA primer suggests that any blunt end produced by leading strand DNA synthesis must be processed to provide a proper telomerase primer. While the details of processing the leading strand have yet to be revealed, it is apparent that the synthesis of the G-strand and C-strand of the telomeric DNA are coupled in yeast and ciliates and is presumed to be similarly coupled in humans. Recently, it was observed that lagging-strand synthesis generates longer G overhangs at the telomeres of normal telomerase negative human cells than leading-strand synthesis (105-110 nt compared to 60-65 nt on average) (26). Further investigation found that telomerase expression results in elongated overhangs at the leading daughter telomeres suggesting that overhangs are generated differently at the leading and lagging daughter telomeres in human cells.

#### 4.2. Telomere maintenance by ALT

Although most human cancers use telomerase as the mechanism for telomeric DNA maintenance, some use an alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) mechanism (27, 28). ALT is characterized by a high rate of telomeric recombination (29) and the presence of ALT-associated PML (promyelocytic leukemia) bodies (30). These are subnuclear structures containing the PML protein, linear and circular forms of telomeric DNA, telomere-binding proteins and several proteins involved in DNA synthesis and recombination. Two limiting mechanisms for ALT maintenance of telomeres can be considered. In the first, homologous recombination occurs between telomeres using telomere sister chromatid exchange (31). In this scenario, sister chromatids asymmetrically align their telomeres allowing for homologous recombination to transfer unequal portions of telomeric DNA, resulting in one sister chromatid with a net gain in telomere length and one sister chromatid with a net loss. Upon cell division, the sister chromatids are separated into two daughter cells, one daughter cell inheriting the telomere depleted chromosome and the other inheriting the telomere elongated chromosome. The daughter cell that inherits the telomere depleted chromosome will reach senescence earlier, and will subsequently perish first, while the one that inherits the telomere elongated chromosome has an increased proliferative potential. It has been proposed that telomere sister chromatid exchange would need to be coupled with unequal segregation at mitosis, leading to segregation of lengthened telomeres to one cell and dispensing of too short telomeres in the other, which would be sacrificed (27). Asymmetrical segregation has been observed in adult stem cells (32), and there is evidence that telomeres may regulate this process (33). A separate model is that the telomeric DNA circles present in ALT-associated PML bodies are expanded by rolling circle replication and recombined with telomeres using the standard mechanisms of sister chromatid exchange (34, 35). In this scenario, the large extrachromosomal telomeric DNA circles abundant in ALT cells may be generated by an incorrect processing of the Holiday junction structure formed by the t-loop (see section 5), where the single-stranded terminus of the telomere inserts itself into the double-stranded telomeric region. After processing, multiple copies of the resulting



**Figure 2**. The telomere forms a lasso-like loop structure under the direction of the shelterin complex. A. Six proteins, TRF 1, TRF2, TPP1, POT1, TIN2, and RAP1 form a dedicated telomere-protection protein complex in humans. B. Human telomeres end in a t-loop characterized by invasion of the 3' overhang into a region of double stranded telomeric DNA. C. Shelterin caps the telomere in part by inducing t-loop formation.

telomeric DNA circle could be rapidly synthesized using the DNA replication process known as "rolling circle replication". The multitude of telomeric DNA circles could, in turn, serve as a source of telomeric DNA for maintaining telomeres through recombination with chromosomes via the mechanisms of sister chromatid exchange.

Interestingly, there is some correlation with tumor origin and telomere maintenance mechanism with telomerase activation often favored in tumors arising from the epithelial compartment and ALT more common in tumors that arise from tissues of mesenchymal origin (36). Furthermore, ALT arises more frequently in cultured cells than in human tumors, but is particularly common in specific subtypes of soft tissue sarcomas with complex karyotypes, including astrocytic brain tumors and osteosarcomas, and telomere lengths in ALT cells are more heterogeneous than telomerase positive cancer cells with some very long telomeres (~50 kb) commonly found.

# 5. THE STRUCTURE OF THE TELOMERE

The telomere is a nucleoprotein complex consisting of telomeric DNA, specific telomere-associated proteins and nucleosome arrays that are characteristic of constitutive heterochromatin (37), which is typical of transcriptionally inactive regions of the genome (38). Telomere-associate heterochromatin is composed of heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) isoforms HP1 $\alpha$ , HP1 $\beta$ ,

and HP1 $\gamma$  and is enriched with histone 3 trimethylated at lysine 9 (H3-K9) and histone 4 trimethylated at lysine 20 (H4-K20) (38). Several proteins that are associated with telomeric DNA are unique to the telomere. These form a complex defined as "shelterin", and include the double stranded telomeric DNA binding factors 1 and 2 (TRF1 and TRF2), the single stranded telomeric DNA-binding protein Protection of Telomeres 1 (POT1), and three interconnecting proteins RAP1, TIN2, and TPP1 (Figure 2) (9). Together these proteins maintain proper telomere structure and therefore its function.

The higher order structure of the telomere has been examined by electron microscopy and has been observed to form a lasso-like structure termed t-loops (Figure 2) (39). T-loops were first observed in telomeric restriction fragments from human and mouse cells (39). These protein-free DNA samples were psoralen crosslinked to avoid dissociation of the loop structure. Subsequently, isolates of intact telomeric chromatin were also found to form a lasso-like structure (40). T-loops are proposed to form by the invasion of the 3' telomeric overhang into the double stranded region of the telomeric DNA, forming a displacement loop of single stranded DNA that was detected by binding to E. coli SSB, a single stranded DNA binding protein (39). Several structures can be envisioned for the knot at the telomeric lasso, but the presence of the displacement loop rules out the possibility of a triplex-type structure. The most likely structure is



**Figure 3**. The t-loop can be tied with three different knots. A. The 3' overhang inserts into the double stranded DNA to form a new duplex and a displacement loop. B. The strand invasion structure resembles a Holliday junction after branch migration of the 3' overhang insertion point. C. The 3' overhang associates with the G-strand of the insertion point via G-quadruplexes. The C-strand could either be single stranded or form an I-motif.

simple base-pairing of the invading strand with the Cstrand, resulting in displacement of a G-rich strand. A similar, but more stable structure could also form by branch migration to yield a Holliday junction-like structure. However, alternative structures can be considered. One is the formation of a G-quadruplex-like structure between the invading G-rich strand and the G-rich strand at the point of insertion, resulting in displacement of the C-rich strand (Figure 3).

The fine structure of the telomere has also been examined. The lengths of the G-overhang and double stranded DNA of the telomeres found in the macronucleus of ciliates are precisely defined in contrast to the heterogeneous lengths of human telomeres. Thus, it was somewhat a surprise when the terminal nucleotides of Crich telomere strands were found to precisely terminate in CCATC in 80% of all examined telomeres (41). In the same study, the G-terminal nucleotide was found to be less precise and had a telomerase expression-dependent bias. One contributor to the C-strand end sequence has been identified as POT1 (42). A 10-fold reduction in POT1 by RNAi resulted in a change of the sequence of the recessed 5' end to a random position within the AATCCC repeat.

# 6. TELOMERE-ASSOCIATED PROTEINS

Proteins associated with the telomere perform several functions including end capping, synthesizing and processing telomeric DNA, and communicating the state of the telomere to other cellular pathways. Telomereassociated proteins can be categorized by their biochemical activity and by their functional specificity. The single telomere-specific DNA polymerase is telomerase, which produces the G-rich DNA strand. A specific telomere-associated protein complex containing TRF1, TRF2, POT1, TPP1, TIN2, and RAP1 is essential for telomere stability. This complex is commonly referred to as shelterin (9) or the telosome (43), and deletion of any of these proteins leads to disruption of telomere-length regulation and end protection. Subcomplexes of shelterin that contain either TRF1 or TRF2 have been observed by several techniques. Several other proteins with major roles elsewhere in the cell moonlight at the telomere, and their deletions have a variety of telomere-maintenance phenotypes.

#### 6.1. Telomerase

Telomerase is a unique DNA polymerase that reverse transcribes a small portion of its integral RNA subunit using the chromosome end as a primer to synthesize the G-rich strand of telomeric DNA (10). A protein subunit that functions as the reverse transcriptase, called hTERT for <u>h</u>uman <u>TE</u>lomere <u>R</u>everse <u>T</u>ranscriptase (44, 45), and a RNA subunit, hTR for <u>h</u>uman <u>T</u>elomerase <u>RNA</u> (46), are the only components required for reconstitution of telomerase activity *in vitro* (Figure 4). However, other proteins are required for proper assemblage and nuclear localization of cellular telomerase, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (2, 47).

The endogenous assemblage pathway of human telomerase involves several steps. Generally, hTERT is the limiting factor for telomerase assemblage whereas hTR is actively transcribed in most cells. Transcription of hTR is conducted by RNA polymerase II (Pol II) (46), and the nascent transcript undergoes several modifications that are required for hTR stability. Two separate reports demonstrated that hTR contains a 5'-2,2,7-trimethyl guanosine (TMG) cap (48, 49). The 3'-end of hTR dictates further maturation owing to a box H/ACA domain that is conserved in vertebrate telomerase RNA (Figure 4) (50-52). The hTR box H/ACA domain is absolutely required for the cellular assemblage of telomerase (51) though it is dispensable for in vitro reconstitution (53). The box H/ACA motif guides the post-transcriptional maturation of non-coding RNAs and the association of four proteins, dyskerin (Cbf5), NHP2, NOP1 and GAR1 are known requirements for the accumulation of box H/ACA RNAs, including hTR (54-56). The biogenesis of hTR appears to be more complex than other box H/ACA RNAs as the presence of a loop between the box H/ACA motifs is required for cellular accumulation and assemblage. It is proposed that this motif binds to a yet to be defined ribonucleoprotein assemblage factor (51, 54). Further insight into telomerase assemblage has been provided by a series of studies examining the subcellular localization of hTERT and hTR by fluorescence microscopy. Both hTR and hTERT have been observed to accumulate in the nucleolus (57) and in Cajal bodies (58). These structures are known sites of ribonucleoprotein assembly and posttranscriptional regulation, respectively, suggesting that they are sites of telomerase assemblage. Consistent with its Cajal body localization, hTR shares a common Cajal bodyspecific localization signal with scaRNAs (48). Most of the



**Figure 4**. Domain structure of hTERT and hTR. Features of the domain structure of hTERT include the RT motifs (1, 2, A, B', C, D, and E) and telomerase specific T- GQ, CP, and QFP motifs, which were identified by sequence analysis. The RNA interaction domain 1 (RID1), N-terminal dissociates activities of telomerase (N-DAT), and RNA interaction domain 2 (RID2) domains were defined functionally. Positions that have been identified as hTERT binding sites are indicated. Domains of hTR that are conserved among vertebrates are indicated.

evidence points to the Cajal-body as the site of telomerase assemblage. Specifically, the accumulation of hTR in Cajal bodies only occurs in hTERT-positive cells,(58) but hTERT can accumulate in the nucleolus even in the absence of hTR (57). Perhaps unassembled hTERT accumulates in the nucleolus awaiting the signal to assemble with hTR in Cajal bodies.

Purified hTR and hTERT can not assemble into an active complex, but require the presence of crude eukaryotic cell extracts such as rabbit reticulocyte lysate (RRL) to generate active telomerase. It has subsequently been shown that the heat shock protein hsp90 and its partners are the required activity in these crude lysates, and hsp90 is demonstrably required for telomerase activity in cultured cells (59, 60). The role of hsp90 seems to be complex. In vitro, hsp90 activity is required to maintain the stability of the hTERT polypeptide and to keep telomerase in a conformation that is competent in primerbinding (60). Within cells, hsp90 inhibition results in proteosome-catalyzed degradation of hTERT, which could be a direct effect, or it could be mediated through signal transduction pathways reliant on hsp90 (61). The finding that hsp90 has not been observed in the nucleolus, but has been seen in the nucleus is consistent with the suggestion that the nucleolus is not the site of telomerase assemblage, assuming that hsp90 is involved in telomerase assemblage in vivo. Several other proteins interact with hTERT and many have been shown to regulate its assembly, posttranslational modification, localization, and enzymatic activity (Table 2).

The biochemical activity of human telomerase has been the subject of several studies and has been

extensively reviewed (2, 10, 47, 62, 63). Human telomerase appears to be a functional dimeric complex containing two hTR and two hTERT molecules. The role of dimerization, however, is not clear. Human telomerase can bind and extend a variety of primers, even those with only partial telomeric sequences. After binding, primer extension occurs until the end of the template is reached. This template boundary is set in part by the P1 pairing region of hTR. The nascent DNA product can realign with the template allowing further extension owing to a repeat addition processivity activity that is unique to telomerase and allows production of products that contain multiple copies of the telomeric repeat. The importance of this repeat addition processivity in vivo is not clear. Human telomerase, like telomerase from other organisms, also has a nuclease activity that seems to mirror flap-endonucleases in its activity (64). The in vivo role of this activity awaits separation of function mutants as well as a robust assay.

Human telomerase activity can be reconstituted by adding both the pseudoknot (nts 1-209) and the CR4/CR5 (nts 241-330) domains to hTERT *in vitro* and thus are the only hTR domains required for catalytic activity (53). These domains can also bind independently to mammalian TERTs (65, 66). Accordingly, they have been the focus of several structural studies, and the separate efforts of the Feigon and Varani groups have led to solution structures of portions of these domains (Figure 5) (67-69). As these represent the first three dimensional structure of a human telomerase component, they are critical in understanding the mechanism of telomerase, for targeting telomerase in anticancer drug discovery, and in understanding the role of hTR-related mutations in human disease, which will be elaborated on below.

Protein(s)	Role in telomerase function	Other cellular roles	
Ku70/Ku80	Binds hTR and hTERT	DNA repair	
hEST1a/hEST1b	Positive regulator, binds hTERT		
TEP1	hTR-dependent binding to hTERT	Component of vault particle	
KIP	Positive regulator, binds hTERT	Ca <sup>2+</sup> -binding protein	
PinX1	Negative regulator, bind hTERT and hTR (in the presence of hTERT?)		
14-3-3	Regulates cellular location, binds hTERT	Protein localization	
MKRN1	Ubiquitinates hTERT leading to its degradation	E3 Ubiquitin ligase	
PKCa, PKCg, Akt, c-Acl	Phosphorylates hTERT	Cellular kinases	
Hsp90/p23/Hsp70, Hop	Assemblage	Chaperon protein folding and protein-ligand interactions	
Stau	Proposed in hTR biogenesis,	Transport	
	binds hTR		
L22	Proposed in hTR biogenesis,	Ribosome protein	
	binds hTR		
dyskerin	hTR biogenesis, binds hTR	RNA processing	

 Table 2. Telomerase-associated proteins

#### 6.2. TRF1 controls telomere length

TRF1 was first identified by biochemical purification using telomeric-DNA affinity chromatography (70). Biochemical characterization of TRF1 revealed highly specific DNA-binding to double stranded telomeric DNA and the ability to remodel DNA including pair telomeric repeats and bend DNA tracts upon binding (71-73). TRF1 is a dimeric protein that utilizes its C-terminal Myb-type DNA binding domain stranded to bind double telomeric DNA. Immunofluorescence chromatin and immunoprecipitation analysis of the interaction between TRF1 and the telomere show a direct and positive correlation between telomere length and telomereassociated TRF1 levels, suggesting that TRF1 binds along the double stranded region of the telomere as opposed to just the very termini (74, 75). Cell-based assays using inducible expression of TRF1 and TRF1 mutants in telomerase positive cells revealed its direct involvement in regulating the length of telomeric DNA. Overexpression of TRF1 led to a telomere shortening phenotype whereas expression of a dominant negative mutant of TRF1, that lacked the Myb domain but retained the dimerization and nuclear localization domains, resulted in telomere lengthening (75, 76). Furthermore, the rate of telomere erosion in telomerase negative cells is not affected by TRF1 inhibition, suggesting that TRF1 exerts its effects on telomere extension (77). Taken together, these data suggest that TRF1 regulates telomere length in cis by counting the number of telomeric repeats and inhibiting telomerase activity in a dose-dependent fashion.

TRF1 interacts with several other proteins associated with telomere maintenance. The poly(ADPribose) polymerase enzymes tankyrase 1 and 2 ADPribosylate TRF1 leading to inhibition of its telomere association (78). As a result, overexpression of tankyrase 1 leads to telomere elongation. The ability of tankyrase to inhibit TRF1 is modulated by the protein TIN2, which protects TRF1 (79). As a result, knockdown of TIN2 results in telomere elongation. TRF1 has also been shown to associate with TPP1, POT1, and the endogenous telomerase inhibitor PINX1 (74, 80, 81). These interactions underscore the reality that several mechanisms can account for the ability of TRF1 to regulate telomere length.

#### 6.3. TRF2 guards and shapes the end

TRF2 was first identified based on sequence homology to TRF1, and like TRF1 it binds to double stranded telomeric DNA as a homodimer that can also form higher order oligomers (82). Also like TRF1, it uses a Mybtype DNA binding domain to bind specifically to the sequence 5'-YTAGGGTTR, where Y is a pyrimidine and R is a purine, and localizes to the telomere (82, 83). The known biochemical activities of TRF2 were expanded when the basic N-terminal domain was shown to bind DNA junctions in a structure dependent fashion. As expected for a shelterin component, several reports have established that TRF2 is essential for telomere protection and telomerelength regulation. TRF2 inhibition leads to end-to-end chromosome fusion, loss of the G-overhang (83), and induction of apoptosis mediated by p53 and ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) kinase (84). The TRF2 inhibitiondependent loss of the G-overhang involves the ERCC1/XPF flap endonuclease (85), and results in the induction of DNA-damage induced foci at telomeres (86). The so called TIFs (for Telomere Dysfunction-Induced Foci) involved several DNA damage response proteins including 53BP1, y-H2AX, Rad17, ATM, and Mre11. TRF2 also plays a role as a negative regulator of telomere length as its overexpression results in shortened telomere phenotype (77). Interestingly, TRF2 overexpression changes the telomere length that causes senescence in telomerase negative cells to a shorter length (77). This suggests that excess TRF2 can establish a functional telomere structure even under the pressure of reduced telomere length and further suggests that telomere structure and not telomere length initiates telomere-based replicative senescence.

A role for TRF2 in establishing proper telomere structure was revealed by studying the interaction of TRF2 with telomeric DNA using electron microscopy (87). It was found that that TRF2 can remodel model telomeres into t-loop structures. The remodeling activity was sensitive to the presence of telomeric sequence at the junction between the single strand overhang and the double stranded region of the model DNA suggesting that TRF2 recognizes this junction during the remodeling process. The N-terminal basic domain was recently demonstrated to allow structure specific binding of TRF2 to DNA junctions (88). The precise role of TRF2 in t-loop formation *in vivo* has yet to be studied, and will be difficult to establish as



**Figure 5.** Solution structures of human telomerase RNA domains. Black dashed lines indicate the location of the individual structures in the full-length RNA. The full-length RNA and sequence of the individual structure elements are colored to match the ribbon diagrams. For the pseudoknot, the p2b helix is cyan, the p3 helix is green, the J2a/3 loop is blue, the J2b/3 loop is pink, and U177, which was deleted in the construct used for structure determination is black. For the CR4/CR5 domain, the p6a helix is cyan, the J6 bulge is green, the p6b helix is pink, the p6.1 helix is cyan, uridines in the loop are orange and guanosines in the loop are green. Residues in the NMR structures that are not native to human TR are colored grey. Coordinates for all structures were rendered using PyMol (http://www.pymol.org).

analysis by electron microscopy is currently the only t-loop assay available.

# 6.4. POT1 is the human single stranded telomeric DNA binding protein

A human single stranded telomeric DNA-binding protein resisted identification until weak sequence homology between a previously uncharacterized *S. pombe* protein and the  $\alpha$  subunit of the *Oxytricha* telomere end binding protein was used to establish an evolutionarily conserved family of telomere proteins termed POT1 for <u>Protection Of Telomeres 1 (89)</u>. The roles of POT1 in telomere maintenance have been investigated by several groups. Two studies revealed that POT1 can be a telomerase-dependent positive regulator of telomere length by observing an increase in telomeric DNA upon ectopic expression of POT1 (90, 91). Expression of a N-terminally truncated mutant of POT1 that lacks its DNA-binding domain also resulted in telomere lengthening, leading to the suggesting that POT1 is responsible for mediating the TRF1-effect on telomere length (74). Partial POT1 inhibition (10 fold reduction) by RNAi caused a reduction in the 3' overhang DNA, a transient DNA damage response in G1, and a change in the sequence of recessed 5' end of the telomere, which normally ends on the sequence ATC-5', to a random position within the AATCCC repeat (42). In two separate studies, POT1 inhibition resulted in telomere instability leading to apoptosis or senescence, though at a lower frequency than in TRF2 inhibition studies, in support of a role for POT1 in telomere capping (92, 93). Interestingly, POT1 overexpression was found to rescue telomere instability resulting from expression of a dominant negative mutant of TRF2 (93). Perhaps. POT1 can block the nucleolytic degradation observed when TRF2 is inhibited.

With respect to its biochemistry, human POT1 binds as a dimer with specificity for the sequence 5'-TAGGGTTAG-3' at both the 3' end and at internal sites (94). The structure of POT1 in complex with DNA has been solved by X-ray crystallography (95). Because it binds to the same substrate as telomerase, single stranded telomeric DNA, it might be expected to affect telomerase activity. In fact, the effect of POT1 on telomerase is complex and depends on the specific experimental setup. For example, if the DNA primer used for telomerase assays was the consensus POT1 binding sequence, 5'-(GGTTAG)-3, than POT1 inhibited telomerase-catalyzed primer extension. However, inhibition was decreased by adding two G's to the 3' end of the primer, 5'-(TTAGGG)<sub>3</sub> (96, 97). Telomerase was more processive when using the POT1bound 5'-(TTAGGG)<sub>3</sub> as a primer, perhaps as a result of disrupting G-quadruplex structures that form in the nascent DNA product. This model is consistent with the observation that POT1 can disrupt intramolecular Gquadruplex structures, allowing telomerase to extend these otherwise inert primers (98).

# 6.5. TIN2 and TPP1 anchor the telomere-binding proteins in a functional complex

TIN2 and TPP1 are telomere-associated proteins that do not bind DNA but instead function as scaffolding for the shelterin complex (80). TIN2 was originally identified through a screen for TRF1-binding proteins (99), and TPP1 (formerly named PTOP/PIP1/TINT1) was identified through screens for TIN2- and POT1-binding proteins (100-102). TIN2 binds TRF1 with its C-terminus and alters its activity in at least two ways. In vitro DNAbinding assays demonstrated that TIN2 augments the ability of TRF1 to catalyze telomeric DNA clustering, that is the ability of TRF1 to bring together and align separate strands of telomeric DNA (103). As mentioned above, TIN2 also protects TRF1 from tankyrase activity, despite bridging the interaction of tankyrase to TRF1 (79). These effects are presumably a result of a TIN2-induced conformational change of TRF1. Because TIN2 mutants that abrogate this TRF1-induced telomere clustering also increase telomere length in cultured cells, it seems that this activity is in part responsible for the role of TIN2 as a negative regulator of telomere length. TPP1 also functions as a negative regulator of telomere length. TPP1 binds directly to POT1 and TIN2 and helps to stabilize the interactions between TRF1, TIN2, and TRF2 (80).

# 6.6. RAP1

RAP1 was originally identified by a yeast twohybrid screen for TRF2 interacting proteins and associates with the telomere through the interaction of its C-terminus with TRF2 (104). Overexpression of RAP1 resulted in telomere shortening whereas expression of dominant negative mutants of RAP1 gave rise to telomere lengthening, consistent with the conclusion that RAP1, like several other shelterin components, is a negative regulator of telomere length maintenance (105). The association of RAP1 to other shelterin components seems to be bridged completely by TRF2 (80).

# 6.7. Telomere-associated proteins not uniquely associated with the telomere

In addition to these telomere-specific proteins, several others function at the telomere. These proteins can be classified either as DNA processing proteins or enzymes involved in post translational modification, such as the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase enzymes tankyrase 1 and 2 that regulate TRF1 (78). Several nucleases have been indicted in telomere maintenance. The ERCC1/XPF flap endonuclease associates with TRF2 and the telomere and mediates the telomere-length effect associated with TRF2 inhibition (85, 106). The absence of ERCC1/XPF results in extrachromosomal circles containing telomeric DNA. The authors proposed that these originated from recombination of a telomere with an interstitial, telomere-like sequence. Thus, the role of ERCC1/XPF at the telomere may be to prevent such recombination events. The Mre11 complex, Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1, regularly functions as a DNA repair complex and it accumulates at the telomere after the onset of telomere damage. A role of the Mre11 complex in normal telomere end processing is suggested by several lines of evidence. Reduction of the Mre11 complex by RNAi resulted in a transient shortening of G-overhang length in telomerase-positive, but not telomerase negative cells (107). In a separate study, the Mre11 complex was reported to be recruited to the telomere at G2, when telomeres were also found to be normally uncapped (108). The targeted degradation of the Mre11 complex resulted in the telomere being exposed throughout the cell cycle concomitant with an increase in telomere fusions. These results suggest that the Mre11 complex is directly involved in telomere end processing, perhaps to recruit the other processing machinery required. The Mre11 complex has been found associated with telomeric DNA in ALTassociated PML bodies (APBs), and is required for the ALT phenotypes in some ALT cells (109).

The Bloom's (BLM) and Werner's (WRN) helicases, which are associated with diseases involving genetic instability, have been implicated in telomere maintenance (110). WRN, a RecQ helicase with 3' exonuclease activity, interacts with TRF2 and localizes at telomeres (111). A critical observation regarding the role of WRN in telomere maintenance was made by the Kalseder lab. They showed that the loss of WRN resulted



**Figure 6**. G-quadruplex structures. A. The chemical structure of the G-quartet forms a network of Hoogsteen base pairs with a monovalent cation at its core. B. DNA with runs of guanosine rich sequences can form several quartets that stack to form a variety of G-quadruplex structures. A single DNA strand can fold upon itself to form an intramolecular G-quadruplex, while two and four DNA strands can assemble into dimeric and tetrameric structures, respectively. The arrows indicate the parallel or anti-parallel orientation of DNA strands. Guanosine residues are colored according to the configuration of the glycosidic bind. *Anti* guanosines are colored aqua and *syn* guanosines are colored orange.

in deletion of telomeres from single sister chromatids, but only telomeres replicated by lagging strand synthesis were affected (112). Possible roles of WRN in telomere replication are suggested by two of its biochemical activities. In biochemical assays, WRN has been shown to unwind G-quadruplex DNA and to resolve telomeric D loops (113). Furthermore, its activities are stimulated by TRF2. Thus, a model for WRN at the telomere is that WRN assists in the resolution of t-loops to allow telomeric DNA extension and removes G-quadruplexes, which may hinder DNA replication. BLM is also a RecQ helicase and has been established as a telomere associated protein through its interaction with telomeric DNA in the presence of TRF1 and TRF2, and its ability to associate with telomeric DNA by chromatin immunoprecipitation. The ability of BLM to unwind duplex telomeric DNA is stimulated by TRF2 but inhibited by TRF1, consistent with a role in replication of telomeric DNA (114). POT1 also stimulates the ability of BLM and WRN to unwind telomeric DNA, further drawing a connection between these helicases and telomere maintenance (115). BLM has a unique effect in ALT cells, where its overexpression results in increased telomeric DNA, whereas BLM overexpression has no reported effect in telomerase positive cells (116). This result suggests that the role of BLM in telomere maintenance is related to the nature of the repetitive telomeric DNA, and separate from a telomeraserelated function.

#### 7. THE STRUCTURE OF TELOMERIC DNA

#### 7.1. Single-stranded telomeric DNA forms Gquadruplexes

Because single stranded telomeric DNA contains repetitive tracks of G-rich DNA, it has a propensity to fold into structures known as G-quadruplexes (Figure 6) (117, 118). These unique nucleic acid structures are stabilized by a tetrad of guanosine residues that are connected by a network of Hoogsteen base pairs centered on monovalent cations, typically  $K^+$  or  $Na^+$ . The guanosine quartets stack onto each other in folded molecules to form the higher order structures known as G-quadruplexes. A variety of folding topologies have been observed for G-quadruplex structures, and their variance depends on several factors including strand stoichiometry, the pattern of the strand orientation, the sequence intervening between the runs of guanosine, the identity of the associated monovalent cation, and the annealing conditions. Sequences with single runs of guanosine can form four stranded intermolecular structures. These are characterized by both a parallel strand orientation, i.e. all strands are aligned in the same 5' to 3' orientation, and by the anti configuration of the glycosidic bonds of each guanosine residue. DNA strands with two runs of guanosine can form a variety of dimeric, trimeric, and tetrameric structures. Single DNA strands with four runs of guanosine can fold into intramolecular structures as



**Figure 7**. The structures observed for the intramolecular quadruplex formed by the human telomeric repeat sequence. A. The solution structure in Na<sup>+</sup>. B. The crystal structure in the presence of K<sup>+</sup>. C. The solution structure in K<sup>+</sup>. Schematic structures are colored as in Figure 6.

well as various intermolecular structures, depending on the folding conditions.

The structures of G-quadruplexes formed by DNA strands with one, two or four repeats of the telomeric DNA sequence have been examined by several biophysical techniques including NMR and X-ray crystallography. The sequence  $d(T_2AG_3)$  anneals to form a four stranded, parallel quadruplex with all guanosines in an anti configuration, as expected for a strand with a single repeat of the telomeric sequence (119). Dimeric structures formed by strands with two repeats of the human telomeric sequence are much more complex. In the presence of  $K^+$ , the two repeat sequence d(TAGGGTTAGGGT) forms both parallel and antiparallel dimeric structures that can interconvert in solution (120). In a K<sup>+</sup>-containing crystal, the sequence was observed as a parallel dimer (121). An interesting structure was observed for the three repeat sequence  $d(G_3T_2A)_2GGGT$ , which was observed as a dimeric complex with all the guanosine from one strand forming three of the corners of the quartet and one set of guanosine from the other strand forming one side of the structure. The overall folding topology has been classified as a (3 + 1) assembly because three strands are parallel, and one strand is antiparallel (122). The intramolecular Gquadruplex formed by oligonucleotides containing four repeats of the telomeric sequence has been observed as a parallel propeller-like assembly in K<sup>+</sup>-containing crystals (121), an antiparallel cross-over basket in solution in the presence of Na<sup>+</sup>,(123) and as a mixed (3 + 1) assembly in solution in the presence of K<sup>+</sup> (Figure 7) (124, 125). The diversity of possible structures is highlighted by single molecule fluorescence studies that suggested the coexistence of at least two interconverting structures (126, 127). These structures are likely (3 + 1) structures, as two separate folding topologies of the (3 + 1) assembly have been observed by NMR (128).

# 7.2. *In vivo* relevance of G-quadruplex structures of telomeric DNA

The recognized ability of telomeric DNA to fold into G-quadruplex structures has sparked a significant level of interest into the biological significance of these structures, and despite the ability to form in vitro, the in vivo importance of G-quadruplex DNA at telomeres is still remarkably controversial. The best evidence for the presence of G-quadruplex DNA at the telomeres of an organism comes from work with the ciliate Stylonichia lemnae (129, 130). In a series of experiments, synthetic single-chain antibody fragments specifically targeted against the intermolecular G-quadruplex assembled from the ciliated protozoan telomeric sequence were used to examine the telomere structure. The antibody Sty 49, which recognizes both parallel and anti-parallel quadruplexes but not Sty 3, which recognizes only the parallel quadruplex, provided a strong signal in the macronucleus, but not micronucleus, of vegetative Stylonichia. The authors deduced that only an anti-parallel

dimeric G-quadruplex exists in vivo. Though, the existence of parallel G-quadruplexes can not be dismissed. The evidence for G-quadruplex structures at human telomeres comes from the use of G-quadruplex ligands to detect this structure on human chromosomes. A novel fluorescence 3,6-bis(1-methyl-4-vinylpyridinium)carbazole ligand. diiodide (BMVC), gave a G-quadruplex-specific signal when incubated with human chromosomal DNA (131). In a separate study, detection of a G-quadruplex structure was achieved by isolating metaphase spreads of normal human and tumor cells cultured in the presence of the radiolabeled G-quadruplex ligand <sup>3</sup>H-360A followed by autoradiography (132). Both studies report that their respective ligands bound preferentially to terminal regions of the chromosomes. One caveat from these experiments is the possibility that the G-quadruplex ligand is trapping Gquadruplex structures that normally would not exist in the absence of ligand.

Despite the lack of an established functional role for G-quadruplex DNA at the telomere, the incontrovertible fact of the inherent ability of quadruplex formation by telomeric DNA suggests that their presence can arise within the cellular environment. This led to investigation of selective G-quadruplex stabilizing and binding ligands, which is explored further below. Furthermore, it suggests that proteins that recognize G-quadruplex DNA should exist, as is indeed the case.

# 7.3. Proteins that interact with G-quadruplex structures of telomeric DNA

The growing list of proteins that bind to, cleave, resolve or promote the formation of telomeric Gquadruplexes lends support to the view of the quadruplex as a biologically significant entity. Human Topoisomerase I can bind to pre-formed inter- and intramolecular Gquadruplexes and catalyze G-quadruplex formation from single stranded DNA (133). Notably, the G-quadruplex binding inhibits normal topoisomerase I DNA cleavage activity (134). As noted in section 6.7 above, the helicase BLM and WRN unwind telomeric DNA. This activity occurs with a 3'-5' polarity and requires ATP, Mg<sup>2+</sup> and at least one single-stranded 3' tail (135, 136). Zaug and colleagues showed that POT1 is able to disrupt an intramolecular telomeric G-quadruplex, thus allowing telomerase-catalyzed primer extension in vitro (98). Based on the experiments performed, it appeared that POT1 may be simply trapping the single stranded Gquadruplex DNA resulting in a shift of the equilibrium to the unfolded state, as opposed to a catalytic process. Several recent reports on heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A1 (hnRNP A1) and D (hnRNP D) have demonstrated the ability of these single strand telomeric DNA binding proteins as telomeric Gquadruplex resolvases (137-139). hnRNP D, alias AUF1, uses its C-terminal BD2 domain to reduce the presence of a G-quadruplex DNA signal when incubated with folded human telomeric DNA, as measured by circular dichroism and chemical shift perturbation studies. Based on these results, it was postulated that BD2 can actively unfold the quadruplex (137). However, the results do not rule out the possibility that

that BD2 simply traps the dissociated form of the quadruplex in a passive manner as shown with POT1. hnRNP A1 has also been shown to disrupt telomeric Gquadruplexes leading to a model for the stimulatory effect of hnRNP A1 on telomerase activity (138). In the model, hnRNP A1 stimulates telomerase by resolving Gquadruplexes present in the telomerase product facilitating the translocation step of telomere elongation. hnRNP A1 expression has also been shown to lengthen telomeres in mice, consistent with a role as a positive regulator of telomerase (140). Replication protein A (RPA) unwinds Gquadruplex DNA in an ATP independent reaction that does not require a 3' tail (141). RPA accelerated the rate of Gquadruplex dissociation by ten fold compared to the complementary DNA sequence for one population of Gquadruplexes reported to exist in the reaction mixture. Using biochemical purification guided by tetrameric Gquadruplex resolving activity, the gene product DHX36, a DEXH -type helicase, was identified from human cell lysates as a G-quadruplex resolvase (142). Studies examining telomeric substrates are apparently underway.

# 8. THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE TELOMERE TO CANCER AND AGING

Intact telomeres are essential for genetic stability. As a consequence, loss of telomere function has a profound physiological effect. Generally, the most common occurrence leading to dysfunctional telomeres is short telomeres. However, it is possible for a cell to have normal telomeric DNA lengths and still not form a properly capped telomere. A simple mechanism to overcome a deficiency in telomere maintenance is to express telomerase or activate the ALT pathway. These provide a means to replenish the telomeric DNA. However, telomerase is down regulated in almost all terminally differentiated human cells and ALT appears to be latent in normal cells (27). As a result, cultured somatic cells have a limited replication capacity. Cellular replication leads to loss of telomeric DNA. When the telomeres have reached a critically short length, cells irreversibly arrest growth. This senescence pathway requires cell cycle and DNA damage checkpoints controlled by Rb/p16 and p53. In the absence of the Rb/p16 pathway, telomere dysfunction can lead to apoptosis, and in the absence of both Rb and p53, genetic instability ensues, which may produce surviving cells typically characterized by chromosomal rearrangements (143). There are two significant ramifications of telomere biology on human health. First, telomere erosion attending progression of human lifespan establishes the correlation between telomere length and age. Second, the requirement of a cellular mechanism for telomeric DNA maintenance has consequences for cancer cell biology (Figure 8).

# 8.1. Implications of telomere biology on cancer

Telomeres are important components of the initiation and progression of neoplastic growth in two key ways. Most obvious is the inescapable requirement for a mechanism to maintain telomeric DNA that makes telomerase so commonly expressed in cancer cells. Though less common, some cancer cell types (10-15%) use the ALT pathway, which is prevalent in astrocytic brain



**Figure 8**. The relationship between telomere length and cellular aging. Telomere length, represented on the ordinate, is progressively lost during successive rounds of cellular replication, represented on the abscissa, in telomerase negative somatic cell lines. This leads to Rb-and p53- mediated growth arrest, marked as senescence. Inactivation of p53 and Rb function bypasses senescence leading to further cell growth and further telomere erosion. Telomere shortening leads to genetic instability and crisis. Rare survivors reactivate a telomere-stabilization pathway, either telomerase or ALT. Germline cells are telomerase positive and maintain the lengths of their telomeres. Pluripotent stem cells express some telomerase activity, but not enough to fully maintain the full length.

tumors and osteosarcomas (28). Second, the overall length of telomeric DNA and the actions of telomere-associated proteins affect genetic stability and can activate the which suppress senescence pathway, neoplastic transformation. In the absence of the Rb/p16 and p53 pathways, however, senescence is not activated, leading to genetic instability and potential transformation. Evidence for these pivotal roles of telomere maintenance in tumorigenicity is provided by the ability to inhibit tumor growth by inhibiting telomerase activity in telomerase positive cancer cells (144) and by the ability to convert primary human cells to cancer cells using only constitutive telomerase expression coupled to oncogene expression and/or loss of a tumor repressor gene, for example the simian virus 40 large-T oncoprotein and an oncogenic allele of H-ras in combination with ectopic expression of hTERT has been demonstrated to transform a variety of cell types (145).

The critical role telomere maintenance plays in cancer biology makes it important to note the affects of transformation on the expression of the telomere-associated proteins and to describe the roles of telomere proteins in establishing and maintaining tumors. As noted before, hTERT and the concomitant telomerase activity is observed in 85-90% of all cancers, but is absent in most differentiated tissues (146). Inhibition of telomerase in cancer cells results in gradual loss of the telomeric DNA

followed by senescence or apoptosis, depending on the genetic background of the cell (147). In addition to its roles in maintaining the length of telomeric DNA, several recent reports highlight alternative roles for telomerase in protecting telomeric DNA, maintaining the proliferative capacity of tumor cells, and inhibiting apoptosis. One of the first indications that telomerase functioned beyond DNA synthesis came from experiments with human fibroblasts that were transformed with SV40 T-antigen and were immortalized by ectopic expression of hTERT (148). Surprisingly, these cells did not engage in telomere elongation. suggesting that telomerase promoted immortality without synthesizing DNA in this case. Subsequently, it was demonstrated that a mutant of hTERT. a C-terminal HA-tagged hTERT version that was catalytically active but unable to maintain telomeres in cells, conferred a tumorigenic phenotype (149). Interestingly, one recent experiment using a catalytically inactive hTERT mutant (D788N) demonstrated that telomerase inhibits apoptosis independent of its reverse transcriptase activity through a pathway involving poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase and p53 (150). The findings were substantiated by the observation that p53 induced apoptosis is inhibited by constitutive expression of hTERT (151), the effect of ectopic expression of hTERT in telomerase negative non-small cell lung carcinoma cells and the finding that hTERT inhibits the (152), mitochondrial death pathway (153) and other recent results (154). These findings lead to several important questions including what are the alternative functions of telomerase, and how can they be affected for the benefit of human Possible roles for telomerase beyond DNA health? synthesis include end-capping, regulation of telomeric structures such as the t-loop, mitotic spindle function, inhibition of apoptosis by inhibiting pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bax (153) or other proteins (155), and regulation of DNA repair (156). Expression of telomerase and telomere length have also been examined as prognostic indicators for several cancer lines. High levels of both hTERT mRNA levels and/or telomerase activity are an indicator of poor prognosis in most tumor types including, but not limited to. gliomas (157), non-small-cell lung cancer (158), metastatic hepatic cancer (159), breast cancer (160, 161), and various leukemias (162-164). Additionally, some cancers are associated with an increased incidence of ALT and in malignant liposarcomas, the ALT phenotype was better at predicting disease outcome with ALT associated with increased mortality (165).

The expression levels of the shelterin members in tumors have also been examined, but few consensus correlations can be found between their levels and tumor progression across different cancer types. One of the most consistent findings is an inverse correlation of TRF1 expression and tumor progression in human primary tumors, which has been observed in gastrointestinal (166), and astroglial brain tumors (167), non-small cell lung cancer cells (168), and acute leukemia cells (169). These data suggests that TRF1 down-regulation provides a growth advantage for cancerous cells, and this idea is corroborated by the observation that TRF1 expression directly correlated with prognosis (170). This correlation is not universal among cancer as primary adult T-cell leukemia (ATL) cells from patients were shown to overexpress TRF1, TRF2 and TIN2 (171). These cells also displayed abnormally short, but stable telomere lengths. Perhaps the high TRF2 expression levels were required to maintain telomere structure in these cells and therefore prevent senescence associated with the short telomeres. A similar correlation between increased TRF2 and short telomere was found in gastric carcinomas (172), and during hepatocarcinogenesis (173). Moreover, in one study on gastric cancers the expression of TRF2 correlated to multidrug resistance (174). Expression of telomere-associated genes was also examined in patients with non-small cell lung cancer cells. The level of TRF1 was significantly lower in the tumor samples than in adjacent normal tissues, but no significant differences were found for TRF2, POT1, and RAP1. There were differences in RAP1 and TRF2 expression between patients. Notably, the expression levels of RAP1 correlated with overall survival, suggesting that RAP1 would be a useful prognostic indicator, and higher levels of TRF2 expression correlated to lower tumor grade (175). POT1 levels have been reported to directly correlate with tumor stage and telomere length in some primary gastric carcinoma cells, suggesting some growth advantage for increased POT1 in some situations (176).

# 8.2. Implications of telomere biology on aging

Most human somatic cells are devoid of telomerase activity, and telomerase positive cells from proliferative tissues do not express telomerase at levels high enough to completely maintain telomere length. As a consequence, telomeres shorten during the aging process. This has been established for humans by examining telomere lengths from a variety of tissues samples from patients representing a range of ages. Telomere length reduction has been observed in peripheral blood cells, colon, fibroblasts, liver, pancreas (177), kidney (178, 179), and lung of both males and females, but not in brain samples (179). This correlation between shortened telomeres and age has led to the examination of telomere length as a prognostic indicator of age related conditions. Several reports have now documented the correlation between shortened telomeres in peripheral blood cells and a wide variety of age-related diseases including Alzheimer's disease, atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and vascular dementia. Significant or borderline inverse correlation was observed between leukocyte telomere length and diabetes, diastolic blood pressure, and myocardial infarction, with each kilobase pair of telomere lost corresponding with a threefold increased risk of myocardial infarction and stroke (180). Dementia is commonly associated with aging. However, no association between telomere length in old age with age-related physical and cognitive decline or mortality was observed in one published report (181). However, telomere length was found to predict poststroke mortality, dementia, and cognitive decline (182). Of note, telomere length appears to be a good indicator of morbidity in older populations (60-74 years) (183) but the correlation decrease with very old (>79) populations (184). Perhaps, aged telomeres are unstable irrespective of length. The data so far only demonstrate that telomere length correlates with aging, but these studies do not demonstrate a causative

relationship between telomere length and aging. The best indication of such a relationship comes from the several progeria related disorders that have telomere maintenance defects associated with their etiology. These are discussed further in section 9 below.

What causes the erosion of telomeric DNA and the differences in telomere length between people? Even though the end-replication problem seems to directly affect telomere length and appears in part responsible for senescence in cultured cells, oxidative stress and the attending loss of the oxidation sensitive, G-rich telomeric DNA also can contribute significantly to telomeric loss in vivo, especially in post mitotic cells (185, 186). Thus, environmental and lifestyle conditions could affect telomere length. This idea is supported by a few reports. A study of healthy premenopausal women showed that levels of perceived stress correlated with shorter telomeres, on average by the equivalent of at least one decade of additional aging compared to low stress women (187). Both obesity and cigarette smoking are also associated with increased oxidative stress and inflammation. A large cohort study consisting of 1,122 white women aged 18-76 years was used to investigate the effects of obesity and smoking (188). Telomere length decreased with age at a mean rate of 27 bp per year, and obesity was associated with a decrease of 240 bp of telomeric DNA compared to lean women. A dose-dependent relation with smoking was noted, and each pack-year smoked was equivalent to an additional 5 bp of telomere length lost compared with the rate in the overall cohort. Thus obesity and smoking caused 8.8 and 4.6 years, respectively, of extra aging as measured by loss of telomeric DNA.

### 9. DISEASES ASSOCIATED WITH DEFICIENCIES IN TELOMERE MAINTENANCE

In addition to the relationship with aging and cancer, several genetic disorders have telomere maintenance defects as a central contributor to the disease associated phenotype. Two major classifications of telomere-associated disorders are those that result in a telomerase deficiency, including dyskeratosis congenita (DC), and those that affect telomere DNA processing, such as the Werner's and Bloom's syndromes.

# 9.1. Telomerase deficiency and deregulation in human disease

Patients with one of a variety of diseases associated with bone marrow failure have been found to carry mutations in a component required for generating telomerase activity. Mutations in hTR, hTERT, and hTR processing proteins have been found and all correlate with decreased telomerase activity and shortened telomeres in these patients. The most common abnormality is hTR sequence variance, which is found in approximately 10% to 15% of patients with acquired hematopoietic failure syndromes (189). DC is a rare inherited multi-system disorder characterized by abnormal skin pigmentation and morbidity associated with bone marrow failure (190). Autosomal dominant DC patients are heterozygous for mutations in either hTR (191) or hTERT (192, 193) and

display haploinsufficiency of their telomerase activity. Other diseases associated with bone marrow failure, including aplastic anemia, paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria, and myelodysplastic syndrome have also been attributed to acquired mutations in hTR (189). The predominant X-linked form of DC results from mutations in the protein, (56) which is required for both ribosomal RNA (rRNA) pseudouridine modification and cellular accumulation of hTR. Important insight into the etiology of X-linked DC came from experiments in which hTR was added back to cells derived from DC patients (194). With this approach, the Collins laboratory demonstrated that overexpression of hTR can rescue the telomere maintenance phenotype. Further, they showed that rRNA biogenesis occurred at the normal rate. These results demonstrate that X-linked DC is truly a disease caused by aberrant telomerase biogenesis.

# 9.2. Diseases associated with telomere processing

Several syndromes result from genetic abnormalities in genes with telomere functions that overlap with their other cellular roles. Common symptoms associated with these diseases include premature aging, susceptibility to cancer, sensitivity to DNA damage, and critically short telomeres. Mutations in the Mre11 complex members Mre11 and NBS1 give rise to Ataxiatelangiectasia-like disorder (ATLD) (195) and Nijmegen breakage syndrome (NBS) (196), respectively. Blood cells from NBS patients have shortened telomeres and introduction of hTERT and NBS1 were required to regain telomere lengths, consistent with an active role for the Mre11 complex in telomere extension (196). Even though both Mre11 and Nbs1 are part of the same Mre11 complex, deficiency in either protein in humans does not lead to the same clinical symptoms, suggesting that the components of the complex may also act separately (110). Mutations in ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) protein, a DNA damage response kinase, cause ataxia-telangiectasia. ATM functions in mobilizing the cellular response to double strand breaks in the DNA and its loss results in accelerated telomere shortening (197). Mutations in the telomere-related ERCC1/XPF flap endonuclease cause xeroderma pigmentosum (85). Fanconi anemia (FA) is a rare genetic disease characterized by chromosome instability, progressive bone marrow failure and cancer susceptibility. Accelerated shortening of telomeres, a high frequency of extrachromosomal TTAGGG signals, and chromosome ends with undetectable TTAGGG repeats have been observed in FA cells. The observation of extra-chromosomal telomeric DNA is suggestive of intensive breakage at telomeric sequences (198). Interestingly, telomerase was found to be 4.8-fold more active in some FA patients than in age-matched healthy controls (199). Since FA cells have a defect in oxygen metabolism leading to an increased burden of reactive oxygen species and attending 8-OxodG accumulation it has been speculated that oxidative damage at the G-rich telomere gives rise to the telomere-shortening phenotype inherent in FA cells (110, 200).

Bloom's and Werner's syndromes are caused by defects in related RecQ type helicases BLM and WRN, respectively (201). Patients with Bloom's syndrome are

predisposed to early onset of cancer, growth retardation, and immunodeficiency. Werner's syndrome is more complex and patients present premature aging with several complex aging related phenotypes, including graving and thinning of the hair, bilateral cataract formation, type II diabetes mellitus, osteoporosis and atherosclerosis. Because both BLM and WRN have demonstrable Gquadruplex resolvase activity and are required for proper telomere maintenance, it is tempting to speculate that they are involved in resolving G-quadruplex structures that arise during DNA replication at the telomere to allow complete replication (135). Perhaps, the absence of WRN and BLM results in an increased incidence of stalled replication forks within telomeric regions of the chromosomes owing to Gquadruplex formation, which is known to stop DNA polymerization when present in the template strand. Since the G-rich telomeric DNA is the template for lagging strand DNA synthesis, WRN and BLM should only affect lagging strand telomeres if the effect is related to G-quadruplex resolution within the template, as was observed by the Karlseder lab for WRN (112). Alternatively, replication of the repetitive telomeric DNA could lead to stalled replication forks that undergo regression leading to a fourway junction characterized as a chicken foot DNA structure.

### 10. TELOMERE MAINTENANCE AS A DRUG TARGET

Because telomere maintenance is an absolute requirement for the continued proliferation of cancer cells, several aspects of telomere maintenance have been examined as anticancer drug targets. The most advanced of these is inhibition of telomerase (202). Several strategies to inhibit telomerase activity through direct and indirect means have been investigated (203-206). These can be classified as targeting production of the telomerase complex using antisense approaches, targeting telomerase activity with specific inhibitors, or targeting the telomere with G-quadruplex stabilizers. Targeted disruption of telomerase production has been achieved through antisense-mediated disruption of hTERT transcription and translation (207, 208) and by using siRNA (153, 154). Recently, antisense mediated redirection of hTERT splicing has been demonstrated to generate, in situ, a dominant negative telomerase complex (209, 210). One of the more active and promising areas of research directed at inhibiting telomere-maintenance has been direct inhibition of telomerase activity. These inhibitors fall into two general categories: oligonucleotide inhibitors that target the template portion of hTR (204) and small-molecule inhibitors including reverse transcriptase inhibitors (211), nucleotide analogs (212, 213), and other small molecules (Figure 9) (214-217). Each of these strategies to inhibit telomerase has been met with some success, and in general, telomerase inhibition by these methods leads to erosion of As telomere length decreases, the telomeric DNA. functional telomere structure becomes increasing difficult for cells to maintain and eventually the dysfunctional telomeres initiate senescence or apoptosis (77). Importantly, the use of telomerase inhibitors has been validated in cultured tumor cells and human tumor





GRN 1631

**Figure 9.** Representative telomerase-targeted inhibitors. BIBR 1532 was identified by high throughput screening followed by optimization of lead compounds. UCS1025A is a natural product isolated from the fungus *Acremonium* sp. GRN 163L is a telomerase template antagonist that is a short oligonucleotide that is complementary to the telomerase template. GRN163L contains a unique N3' $\rightarrow$ P5' *thio*-phosphoramidate backbone.



**Figure 10**. G-quadruplex binding ligands. Telomestatin is natural product isolated from *Streptomyces amulatus*. BRACO 19 is a 3,6,9 trisubstituted acridine derivative. RHPS4 is a pentacyclic acridine derivative. 115405 is a trisubstituted triazine derivative.

xenografts in nude mouse models (216, 218-220). Telomerase assemblage has also been targeted by affecting the chaperones involved in assemblage or by targeting the protein-RNA interactions involved in establishing telomerase activity (65, 221-223). Telomerase requires the proper association of hTERT and hTR to afford an active complex, and telomerase assemblage appears to require several accessory proteins including Hsp90 and p23, which function as chaperones (59). Thus, assemblage of the telomerase complex has been blocked by using Hsp90 inhibitors geldanamycin (221) and novobiocin (155). However, it was recently demonstrated that the role of hsp90 is more complex than mediating telomerase assemblage (60), and inhibition of cellular hsp90 results in degradation of hTERT (61), precluding the formation of a dominant negative telomerase complex. A dominant negative complex has been generated by transfecting cells with a mutant of hTR with an altered template sequence, though this approach required concomitant knock down of hTR level with RNAi (224, 225). The era of telomerase-based therapeutics is close at hand as the biotechnology company Geron has recently led one of its lead compounds into the phase I/II clinical trials, trial NCT00124189 starting July 2005, for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Furthermore, several telomerase-based vaccines are also in phase I/II clinical trials (226).

Another area that has shown promise is the use of G-quadruplex stabilizing molecules (227). This field owes its existence to the observation that telomerase cannot extend the G-quadruplex structures that telomeric DNA can form. Based on this, it is hypothesized that G-quadruplex stabilizing ligands can bind telomeric DNA, induce the formation of the unique, four-stranded G-quadruplexes, and inhibit telomerase; or they can bind the DNA in the nascent product-telomerase complex. In reality, G-quadruplex stabilizing compounds can affect telomerase and telomere maintenance by a variety of mechanisms. Focusing on telomerase, these ligands can prevent telomerase from interacting with the telomere, inhibit telomerase during primer extension after four telomeric repeats are available,(228) suppress activation of hTERT transcription by binding to the c-MYC promoter (229), and affect splicing of the hTERT transcript (230). Aside from their effects on telomerase specifically, G-quadruplex ligands can affect telomeres more directly by blocking the interaction of telomere-binding proteins with the telomere.

The combined efforts of the Hurley and Neidle labs provided the first study of G-quadruplex-binding ligands, 2,6-diamidoanthraquinones, as telomerase inhibitors (231). Since that seminal work, a wide variety of pharmacophores have been explored as Gquadruplex-based telomerase inhibitors (Figure 10). From a pharmacological perspective, two of the best studied G-quadruplex-binding ligands are BRACO-19, a 3,6,9-trisubstituted acridine (232), and telomestatin, a natural product with a unique circular structure (233). Two reports demonstrate that the association of POT1 with the telomere is inhibited by telomestatin, but does not affect the telomere localization of the doublestranded telomere-binding protein TRF2 (234, 235). Treatment of HT1080 human tumor cells by telomestatin induces a rapid decrease of the telomeric G-overhang and of the double-stranded telomeric repeats, provokes a strong decrease of POT1 and TRF2 from their telomere sites, uncaps telomere ends, and causes an increase in telomeric -H2AX foci (235). These results indicate a DNA damage response at the telomere. Other foci were also present, indicating the presence of additional DNA targets for telomestatin. POT1 overexpression allowed resistance to telomestatin by protection treatment characterized against telomestatin-induced growth inhibition and G-overhang shortening. This protection is rather related to the initial G-overhang length than to its degradation rate and is overcome by increased telomestatin concentration. In a

separate report, telomestatin was shown to dissociate TRF2 from telomeres in cancer cells within a week, when given at a concentration that does not cause normal cells to die (236). In this study, the G-tails were dramatically reduced in cancer cell lines, but not in normal fibroblasts and epithelial cells. In addition, telomestatin also induced anaphase bridge formation in cancer cell lines. These results indicate that telomestatin exerts its anticancer effect not only through inhibiting telomere elongation, but also by rapidly disrupting the capping function at the very ends of telomeres.

Based on the observation that the telomereassociated RecQ helicases BLM and WRN efficiently disrupt G-quadruplex DNA, it was predicted that Gquadruplex ligands could inhibit the G-quadruplex resolvase activity. It was then demonstrated that trisubstituted acridine ligands are potent inhibitors of the helicase activity of the BLM and WRN proteins on both Gquadruplex and B-form DNA substrates (237). Inhibition was associated with both a reduction in the level of binding to G-quadruplex DNA and a reduction of the DNAdependent ATPase activity.

# 11. TELOMERE MAINTENANCE AND ADVANCES IN TISSUE ENGINEERING

Because of its relationship with cellular aging, telomerase has received substantial interest by groups looking to take advantage of its immortalizing ability to enhance tissue engineering campaigns. In this setting, the ectopic expression of telomerase is currently being investigated as a tool to increase the potential of cultured cells for uses in tissue engineering (238). Because telomerase activity in cells is limited by the levels of the catalytic subunit hTERT, introduction of hTERT is generally sufficient to establish telomerase activity in telomerase negative cells. Importantly, ectopic expression of hTERT is not sufficient for the acquisition of cancerous phenotypes such as chromosomal abnormalities. anchorage-independent growth, and tumorigenicity in immunodeficient mice. Thus, ectopic expression of hTERT and the attending telomerase activity allows the production of cells that can be grown for extended periods of time in culture. In the absence of hTERT, of course, cells have a limited proliferation capacity owing to telomerelength dependent replicative senescence.

Immortalization of cells by telomerase has been employed in two general scenarios. One is to directly immortalize cells that will latter be used for tissue engineering. The second is to use telomerase immortalized-differentiated cells to drive the differentiation of undifferentiated stem cells. The direct immortalization of cells with hTERT has been successful with several cell types. The first example of xenotransplantation using hTERT-expressing cells was reported by Thomas et al., who successfully rescued adrenal gland activity in a mouse model after adrenalectomy by implanting hTERTimmortalized bovine adrenocortical cells (239). hTERTmediated lifespan expansion has also been investigated for the treatment of spinal cord injury by spinal neuroepithelial cells transduced with hTERT. The cells were propagated for over 168 population doublings and successfully matured into neurons upon xenograft to rat brain and injured adult spinal cord (240). Several other cell types have been immortalized with hTERT including muscle satellite cells, retinal pigment epithelia, dermal fibroblasts, vascular endothelium, osteoblasts, hepatic satellite cells, and mesenchymal stem cells (238). The differentiation of embryonic cells by using coculture with hTERTtransduced, differentiated cells was recently reported to allow the production of dopaminergic neurons (241). These were successfully transplanted in parkinsonian rats in an exciting example of the use of hTERT-immortalized cells.

Using hTERT to overcome replicative senescence for uses in tissue engineering has several potential drawbacks. For example, long term culturing of telomerase-induced cells led to neoplastic transformation of the mesenchymal stem cells though differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells did not suffer similar transformation (242). The problem of telomerase-associated neoplastic growth could theoretically be overcome by conditional or reversible hTERT expression. Towards this reality, a reversibly immortal human  $\beta$ -cell line was recently established and used to successfully establish normal blood glucose control in a diabetes mouse model (243). Another possible drawback is the expansion of undifferentiated cells post grafting. This is not a problem associated with telomerase per se, but is an inherent problem of tissue engineering.

# **12. PERSPECTIVES**

The past ten years have witnessed an explosion of accumulated knowledge about human telomeres, but have left us with more questions then when telomeres were first characterized. In the next ten years, we can anticipate a clearer picture of telomere structure to emerge. Details regarding the telomere structure, how and when it forms, and how it is resolved during DNA replication will certainly provide unique insights into human disease and provide new pharmacological targets for the manipulation of cellular physiology towards the benefit of human health. Other avenues of advancement certainly include understanding the role of telomerase and telomere maintenance in cancer biology. Both the process of transformation during tumorigenesis and the maintenance of cancers cells are affected by telomere biology, yet the details are nebulous. Lastly, one area that seems particularly under explored is the use of chemical biology to probe the salient features of telomere-associated proteins. As the structures of the telomere-binding proteins and telomerase become available, we can anticipate an increased interest in targeting them with small molecules. Such efforts will undoubtedly produce a useful set of tools and lead compounds to probe telomere biology and test in the clinic.

# **13. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

MBJ is supported by grants from the National Science Foundation and the National Institutes of Health.

# **14. REFERENCES**

1. de Lange, T.: Protection of mammalian telomeres. *Oncogene*, 21, 532-40 (2002)

2. Smogorzewska, A. & T. de Lange: Regulation of telomerase by telomeric proteins. *Ann Rev Biochem*, 73, 177-208 (2004)

3. Blasco, M. A.: Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond. *Nat Rev Genet*, 6, 611-22 (2005)

4. Nosek, J., P. Kosa & L. Tomaska: On the origin of telomeres: a glimpse at the pre-telomerase world. *Bioessays*, 28, 182-90 (2006)

5. Ishikawa, F. & T. Naito: Why do we have linear chromosomes? A matter of Adam and Eve. *Mutat Res*, 434, 99-107 (1999)

6. Jordan, P.: Initiation of homologous chromosome pairing during meiosis. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 34, 545-9 (2006)

7. Huffman, K. E., S. D. Levene, V. M. Tesmer, J. W. Shay & W. E. Wright: Telomere shortening is proportional to the size of the G-rich telomeric 3'-overhang. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 19719-22 (2000)

8. Cimino-Reale, G., E. Pascale, E. Battiloro, G. Starace, R. Verna & E. D'Ambrosio: The length of telomeric G-rich strand 3'-overhang measured by oligonucleotide ligation assay. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 29, E35 (2001)

9. de Lange, T.: Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres. *Genes Dev*, 19, 2100-10 (2005)

10. Autexier, C. & N. F. Lue: The Structure and Function of Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 75, 493-517 (2006)

11. Luderus, M. E., B. van Steensel, L. Chong, O. C. Sibon, F. F. Cremers & T. de Lange: Structure, subnuclear distribution, and nuclear matrix association of the mammalian telomeric complex. *J Cell Biol*, 135, 867-81 (1996)

12. Nagele, R. G., A. Q. Velasco, W. J. Anderson, D. J. McMahon, Z. Thomson, J. Fazekas, K. Wind & H. Lee: Telomere associations in interphase nuclei: possible role in maintenance of interphase chromosome topology. *J Cell Sci*, 114, 377-88 (2001)

13. Chuang, T. C., S. Moshir, Y. Garini, A. Y. Chuang, I. T. Young, B. Vermolen, R. van den Doel, V. Mougey, M. Perrin, M. Braun, P. D. Kerr, T. Fest, P. Boukamp & S. Mai: The three-dimensional organization of telomeres in the nucleus of mammalian cells. *BMC Biol*, 2, 12 (2004)

14. Chikashige, Y. & Y. Hiraoka: Telomere binding of the Rap1 protein is required for meiosis in fission yeast. *Curr Biol*, 11, 1618-23 (2001)

15. Trelles-Sticken, E., J. Loidl & H. Scherthan: Bouquet formation in budding yeast: initiation of recombination is not required for meiotic telomere clustering. *J Cell Sci*, 112 (Pt 5), 651-8 (1999)

16. Golubovskaya, I. N., L. C. Harper, W. P. Pawlowski, D. Schichnes & W. Z. Cande: The pam1 gene is required for meiotic bouquet formation and efficient homologous synapsis in maize (Zea mays L.). *Genetics*, 162, 1979-93 (2002)

17. Cooper, J. P., Y. Watanabe & P. Nurse: Fission yeast Taz1 protein is required for meiotic telomere clustering and recombination. *Nature*, 392, 828-31 (1998) 18. Nimmo, E. R., A. L. Pidoux, P. E. Perry & R. C. Allshire: Defective meiosis in telomere-silencing mutants of Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Nature*, 392, 825-8 (1998) 19. Ahmed, S. & J. Hodgkin: MRT-2 checkpoint protein is required for germline immortality and telomere replication in C. elegans. *Nature*, 403, 159-64 (2000)

20. Lee, H. W., M. A. Blasco, G. J. Gottlieb, J. W. Horner, 2nd, C. W. Greider & R. A. DePinho: Essential role of mouse telomerase in highly proliferative organs. *Nature*, 392, 569-74 (1998)

21. Bekaert, S., H. Derradji & S. Baatout: Telomere biology in mammalian germ cells and during development. *Dev Biol*, 274, 15-30 (2004)

22. Geserick, C. & M. A. Blasco: Novel roles for telomerase in aging. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 127, 579-83 (2006) 23. Lingner, J., J. P. Cooper & T. R. Cech: Telomerase and DNA end replication: no longer a lagging strand problem? *Science*, 269, 1533-1534 (1995)

24. Olovnikov, A. M.: A theory of marginotomy. The incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of the phenomenon. *J Theor Biol*, 41, 181-190 (1973)

25. Watson, J. D.: Origin of concatemeric T7 DNA. Nat New Biol, 239, 197-201 (1972)

26. Chai, W., Q. Du, J. W. Shay & W. E. Wright: Human telomeres have different overhang sizes at leading versus lagging strands. *Mol Cell*, 21, 427-35 (2006)

27. Muntoni, A. & R. R. Reddel: The first molecular details of ALT in human tumor cells. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14 Spec No. 2, R191-6 (2005)

28. Reddel, R. R.: Alternative lengthening of telomeres, telomerase, and cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 194, 155-62 (2003)

29. Dunham, M. A., A. A. Neumann, C. L. Fasching & R. R. Reddel: Telomere maintenance by recombination in human cells. *Nat Genet*, 26, 447-50 (2000)

30. Yeager, T. R., A. A. Neumann, A. Englezou, L. I. Huschtscha, J. R. Noble & R. R. Reddel: Telomerasenegative immortalized human cells contain a novel type of promyelocytic leukemia (PML) body. *Cancer Res*, 59, 4175-9 (1999)

31. Bailey, S. M., M. A. Brenneman & E. H. Goodwin: Frequent recombination in telomeric DNA may extend the proliferative life of telomerase-negative cells. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 32, 3743-51 (2004)

32. Merok, J. R., J. A. Lansita, J. R. Tunstead & J. L. Sherley: Cosegregation of chromosomes containing immortal DNA strands in cells that cycle with asymmetric stem cell kinetics. *Cancer Res*, 62, 6791-5 (2002)

33. Garcia-Escarp, M., V. Martinez-Munoz, J. Barquinero, I. Sales-Pardo, J. C. Domingo, P. Marin & J. Petriz: A rare fraction of human hematopoietic stem cells with large telomeres. *Cell Tissue Res*, 319, 405-12 (2005)

34. Wang, R. C., A. Smogorzewska & T. de Lange: Homologous recombination generates T-loop-sized deletions at human telomeres. *Cell*, 119, 355-68 (2004)

35. Cesare, A. J. & J. D. Griffith: Telomeric DNA in ALT cells is characterized by free telomeric circles and heterogeneous t-loops. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 9948-57 (2004)

36. Henson, J. D., J. A. Hannay, S. W. McCarthy, J. A. Royds, T. R. Yeager, R. A. Robinson, S. B. Wharton, D. A. Jellinek, S. M. Arbuckle, J. Yoo, B. G. Robinson, D. L. Learoyd, P. D. Stalley, S. F. Bonar, D. Yu, R. E. Pollock &

R. R. Reddel: A robust assay for alternative lengthening of telomeres in tumors shows the significance of alternative lengthening of telomeres in sarcomas and astrocytomas. *Clin Cancer Res*, 11, 217-25 (2005)

37. Tommerup, H., A. Dousmanis & T. de Lange: Unusual chromatin in human telomeres. *Mol Cell Biol*, 14, 5777-85 (1994)

38. Garcia-Cao, M., R. O'Sullivan, A. H. Peters, T. Jenuwein & M. A. Blasco: Epigenetic regulation of telomere length in mammalian cells by the Suv39h1 and Suv39h2 histone methyltransferases. *Nat Genet*, 36, 94-9 (2004)

39. Griffith, J. D., L. Comeau, S. Rosenfield, R. M. Stansel, A. Bianchi, H. Moss & T. de Lange: Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop. *Cell*, 97, 503-14 (1999)

40. Nikitina, T. & C. L. Woodcock: Closed chromatin loops at the ends of chromosomes. *J Cell Biol*, 166, 161-5 (2004)

41. Sfeir, A. J., W. Chai, J. W. Shay & W. E. Wright: Telomere-end processing the terminal nucleotides of human chromosomes. *Mol Cell*, 18, 131-8 (2005)

42. Hockemeyer, D., A. J. Sfeir, J. W. Shay, W. E. Wright & T. de Lange: POT1 protects telomeres from a transient DNA damage response and determines how human chromosomes end. *EMBO J*, 24, 2667-78 (2005)

43. Liu, D., M. S. O'Connor, J. Qin & Z. Songyang: Telosome, a mammalian telomere-associated complex formed by multiple telomeric proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 51338-42 (2004)

44. Weinrich, S. L., R. Pruzan, L. Ma, M. Ouellette, V. M. Tesmer, S. E. Holt, A. G. Bodnar, S. Lichtsteiner, N. W. Kim, J. B. Trager, R. D. Taylor, R. Carlos, W. H. Andrews, W. E. Wright, J. W. Shay, C. B. Harley & G. B. Morin: Reconstitution of human telomerase with the template RNA component hTR and the catalytic protein subunit hTERT. *Nat Genet*, 17, 498-502 (1997)

45. Harrington, L., W. Zhou, T. McPhail, R. Oulton, D. S. Yeung, V. Mar, M. B. Bass & M. O. Robinson: Human telomerase contains evolutionarily conserved catalytic and structural subunits. *Genes Dev*, 11, 3109-3115 (1997)

46. Feng, J., W. D. Funk, S. S. Wang, S. L. Weinrich, A. A. Avilion, C. P. Chiu, R. R. Adams, E. Chang, R. C. Allsopp, J. Yu & et al.: The RNA component of human telomerase. *Science*, 269, 1236-41 (1995)

47. Harrington, L.: Biochemical aspects of telomerase function. *Cancer Lett*, 194, 139-54 (2003)

48. Jady, B. E., E. Bertrand & T. Kiss: Human telomerase RNA and box H/ACA scaRNAs share a common Cajal body-specific localization signal. *J Cell Biol*, 164, 647-52 (2004)

49. Fu, D. & K. Collins: Human telomerase and Cajal body ribonucleoproteins share a unique specificity of Sm protein association. *Genes Dev*, 20, 531-6 (2006)

50. Chen, J.-L., M. A. Blasco & C. W. Greider: Secondary structure of vertebrate telomerase RNA. *Cell*, 100, 503-514 (2000)

51. Fu, D. & K. Collins: Distinct biogenesis pathways for human telomerase RNA and H/ACA small nucleolar RNAs. *Mol Cell*, 11, 1361-72 (2003)

52. Mitchell, J. R., J. Cheng & K. Collins: A box H/ACA small nucleolar RNA-like domain at the human telomerase RNA 3' end. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 567-76 (1999)

53. Tesmer, V. M., L. P. Ford, S. E. Holt, B. C. Frank, X. Yi, D. L. Aisner, M. Ouellette, J. W. Shay & W. E. Wright: Two inactive fragments of the integral RNA cooperate to assemble active telomerase with the human protein catalytic subunit (hTERT) in vitro. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 6207-6216 (1999)

54. Dragon, F., V. Pogacic & W. Filipowicz: In vitro assembly of human H/ACA small nucleolar RNPs reveals unique features of U17 and telomerase RNAs. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 3037-48 (2000)

55. Pogacic, V., F. Dragon & W. Filipowicz: Human H/ACA small nucleolar RNPs and telomerase share evolutionarily conserved proteins NHP2 and NOP10. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 9028-40 (2000)

56. Mitchell, J. R., E. Wood & K. Collins: A telomerase component is defective in the human disease dyskeratosis congenita. *Nature*, 402, 551-5 (1999)

57. Etheridge, K. T., S. S. Banik, B. N. Armbruster, Y. Zhu, R. M. Terns, M. P. Terns & C. M. Counter: The nucleolar localization domain of the catalytic subunit of human telomerase. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 24764-70 (2002)

58. Zhu, Y., R. L. Tomlinson, A. A. Lukowiak, R. M. Terns & M. P. Terns: Telomerase RNA accumulates in Cajal bodies in human cancer cells. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15, 81-90 (2004)

59. Holt, S. E., D. L. Aisner, J. Baur, V. M. Tesmer, M. Dy, M. Ouellette, J. B. Trager, G. B. Morin, D. O. Toft, J. W. Shay, W. E. Wright & M. A. White: Functional requirement of p23 and Hsp90 in telomerase complexes. *Genes Dev*, 13, 817-26 (1999)

60. Keppler, B. R., A. T. Grady & M. B. Jarstfer: The biochemical role of the heat shock protein 90 chaperone complex in establishing human telomerase activity. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 19840-8 (2006)

61. Kim, J. H., S. M. Park, M. R. Kang, S. Y. Oh, T. H. Lee, M. T. Muller & I. K. Chung: Ubiquitin ligase MKRN1 modulates telomere length homeostasis through a proteolysis of hTERT. *Genes Dev*, 19, 776-81 (2005)

62. Collins, K. & J. R. Mitchell: Telomerase in the human organism. *Oncogene*, 21, 564-79 (2002)

63. Kelleher, C., M. T. Teixeira, K. Forstemann & J. Lingner: Telomerase: biochemical considerations for enzyme and substrate. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 27, 572-9 (2002)

64. Oulton, R. & L. Harrington: A Human Telomeraseassociated Nuclease. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15, 3244-56 (2004)

65. Keppler, B. R. & M. B. Jarstfer: Inhibition of telomerase activity by preventing proper assemblage. *Biochemistry*, 43, 334-43 (2004)

66. Chen, J. L. & C. W. Greider: Determinants in mammalian telomerase RNA that mediate enzyme processivity and cross-species incompatibility. *EMBO J.*, 22, 304-14 (2003)

67. Theimer, C. A., C. A. Blois & J. Feigon: Structure of the human telomerase RNA pseudoknot reveals conserved tertiary interactions essential for function. *Mol Cell*, 17, 671-82 (2005) 68. Leeper, T. C. & G. Varani: The structure of an enzyme-activating fragment of human telomerase RNA. *RNA*, 11, 394-403 (2005)

69. Leeper, T., N. Leulliot & G. Varani: The solution structure of an essential stem-loop of human telomerase RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 31, 2614-21 (2003)

70. Chong, L., B. van Steensel, D. Broccoli, H. Erdjument-Bromage, J. Hanish, P. Tempst & T. de Lange: A human telomeric protein. *Science*, 270, 1663-7 (1995) 71. Griffith, J., A. Bianchi & T. de Lange: TRF1 promotes parallel pairing of telomeric tracts in vitro. J Mol Biol, 278, 79-88 (1998)

72. Bianchi, A., R. M. Stansel, L. Fairall, J. D. Griffith, D. Rhodes & T. de Lange: TRF1 binds a bipartite telomeric site with extreme spatial flexibility. EMBO J, 18, 5735-44 (1999)

73. Bianchi, A., S. Smith, L. Chong, P. Elias & T. de Lange: TRF1 is a dimer and bends telomeric DNA. EMBO J, 16, 1785-94 (1997)

74. Loayza, D. & T. De Lange: POT1 as a terminal transducer of TRF1 telomere length control. Nature, 423, 1013-8 (2003)

75. Smogorzewska, A., B. van Steensel, A. Bianchi, S. Oelmann, M. R. Schaefer, G. Schnapp & T. de Lange: Control of human telomere length by TRF1 and TRF2. Mol Cell Biol, 20, 1659-68 (2000)

76. van Steensel, B. & T. de Lange: Control of telomere length by the human telomeric protein TRF1. *Nature*, 385, 740-3 (1997)

77. Karlseder, J., A. Smogorzewska & T. de Lange: Senescence induced by altered telomere state, not telomere loss. *Science*, 295, 2446-9 (2002)

78. Smith, S., I. Giriat, A. Schmitt & T. de Lange: Tankyrase, a poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase at human telomeres. *Science*, 282, 1484-7 (1998)

79. Ye, J. Z. & T. de Lange: TIN2 is a tankyrase 1 PARP modulator in the TRF1 telomere length control complex. *Nat Genet*, 36, 618-23 (2004)

80. O'Connor, M. S., A. Safari, H. Xin, D. Liu & Z. Songyang: A critical role for TPP1 and TIN2 interaction in high-order telomeric complex assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 11874-9 (2006)

81. Zhou, X. Z. & K. P. Lu: The Pin2/TRF1-interacting protein PinX1 is a potent telomerase inhibitor. *Cell*, 107, 347-59 (2001)

82. Broccoli, D., A. Smogorzewska, L. Chong & T. de Lange: Human telomeres contain two distinct Myb-related proteins, TRF1 and TRF2. *Nat Genet*, 17, 231-5 (1997)

83. van Steensel, B., A. Smogorzewska & T. de Lange: TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions. *Cell*, 92, 401-13 (1998)

84. Karlseder, J., D. Broccoli, Y. Dai, S. Hardy & T. de Lange: p53- and ATM-dependent apoptosis induced by telomeres lacking TRF2. *Science*, 283, 1321-5 (1999)

85. Zhu, X. D., L. Niedernhofer, B. Kuster, M. Mann, J. H. Hoeijmakers & T. de Lange: ERCC1/XPF removes the 3' overhang from uncapped telomeres and represses formation of telomeric DNA-containing double minute chromosomes. *Mol Cell*, 12, 1489-98 (2003)

86. Takai, H., A. Smogorzewska & T. de Lange: DNA damage foci at dysfunctional telomeres. *Curr Biol*, 13, 1549-56 (2003)

87. Stansel, R. M., T. de Lange & J. D. Griffith: T-loop assembly in vitro involves binding of TRF2 near the 3' telomeric overhang. *EMBO J*, 20, 5532-40 (2001)

88. Fouche, N., A. J. Cesare, S. Willcox, S. Ozgur, S. A. Compton & J. D. Griffith: The basic domain of TRF2 directs binding to DNA junctions irrespective of the presence of TTAGGG repeats. *J Biol Chem* (2006)

89. Baumann, P. & T. R. Cech: Pot1, the putative telomere end-binding protein in fission yeast and humans. *Science*, 292, 1171-5 (2001)

90. Armbruster, B. N., C. M. Linardic, T. Veldman, N. P. Bansal, D. L. Downie & C. M. Counter: Rescue of an hTERT mutant defective in telomere elongation by fusion with hPot1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 3552-61 (2004)

91. Colgin, L. M., K. Baran, P. Baumann, T. R. Cech & R. R. Reddel: Human POT1 facilitates telomere elongation by telomerase. *Curr Biol*, 13, 942-6 (2003)

92. Veldman, T., K. T. Etheridge & C. M. Counter: Loss of hPot1 function leads to telomere instability and a cut-like phenotype. *Curr Biol*, 14, 2264-70 (2004)

93. Yang, Q., Y. L. Zheng & C. C. Harris: POT1 and TRF2 cooperate to maintain telomeric integrity. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 1070-80 (2005)

94. Loayza, D., H. Parsons, J. Donigian, K. Hoke & T. de Lange: DNA binding features of human POT1: a nonamer 5'-TAGGGTTAG-3' minimal binding site, sequence specificity, and internal binding to multimeric sites. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 13241-8 (2004)

95. Lei, M., E. R. Podell & T. R. Cech: Structure of human POT1 bound to telomeric single-stranded DNA provides a model for chromosome end-protection. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 11, 1223-9 (2004)

96. Lei, M., A. J. Zaug, E. R. Podell & T. R. Cech: Switching human telomerase on and off with hPOT1 protein in vitro. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 20449-56 (2005)

97. Kelleher, C., I. Kurth & J. Lingner: Human protection of telomeres 1 (POT1) is a negative regulator of telomerase activity in vitro. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 808-18 (2005)

98. Zaug, A. J., E. R. Podell & T. R. Cech: Human POT1 disrupts telomeric G-quadruplexes allowing telomerase extension in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 10864-9 (2005)

99. Kim, S. H., P. Kaminker & J. Campisi: TIN2, a new regulator of telomere length in human cells. *Nat Genet*, 23, 405-12 (1999)

100. Liu, D., A. Safari, M. S. O'Connor, D. W. Chan, A. Laegeler, J. Qin & Z. Songyang: PTOP interacts with POT1 and regulates its localization to telomeres. *Nat Cell Biol*, 6, 673-80 (2004)

101. Houghtaling, B. R., L. Cuttonaro, W. Chang & S. Smith: A dynamic molecular link between the telomere length regulator TRF1 and the chromosome end protector TRF2. *Curr Biol*, 14, 1621-31 (2004)

102. Ye, J. Z., D. Hockemeyer, A. N. Krutchinsky, D. Loayza, S. M. Hooper, B. T. Chait & T. de Lange: POT1-interacting protein PIP1: a telomere length regulator that recruits POT1 to the TIN2/TRF1 complex. *Genes Dev*, 18, 1649-54 (2004)

103. Kim, S. H., S. Han, Y. H. You, D. J. Chen & J. Campisi: The human telomere-associated protein TIN2 stimulates interactions between telomeric DNA tracts in vitro. *EMBO Rep*, 4, 685-91 (2003)

104. Li, B., S. Oestreich & T. de Lange: Identification of human Rap1: implications for telomere evolution. *Cell*, 101, 471-83 (2000)

105. Li, B. & T. de Lange: Rap1 affects the length and heterogeneity of human telomeres. *Mol Biol Cell*, 14, 5060-8 (2003)

106. Wu, Y., N. J. Zacal, A. J. Rainbow & X. D. Zhu: XPF with mutations in its conserved nuclease domain is defective in DNA repair but functions in TRF2-mediated telomere shortening. *DNA Repair (Amst)* (2006)

107. Chai, W., A. J. Sfeir, H. Hoshiyama, J. W. Shay & W. E. Wright: The involvement of the Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 complex in the generation of G-overhangs at human telomeres. *EMBO Rep*, 7, 225-30 (2006)

108. Verdun, R. E., L. Crabbe, C. Haggblom & J. Karlseder: Functional human telomeres are recognized as DNA damage in G2 of the cell cycle. *Mol Cell*, 20, 551-61 (2005)

109. Jiang, W. Q., Z. H. Zhong, J. D. Henson, A. A. Neumann, A. C. Chang & R. R. Reddel: Suppression of alternative lengthening of telomeres by Sp100-mediated sequestration of the MRE11/RAD50/NBS1 complex. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 2708-21 (2005)

 Callen, E. & J. Surralles: Telomere dysfunction in genome instability syndromes. *Mutat Res*, 567, 85-104 (2004)
 Opresko, P. L., C. von Kobbe, J. P. Laine, J. Harrigan, I. D. Hickson & V. A. Bohr: Telomere-binding protein TRF2 binds to and stimulates the Werner and Bloom syndrome helicases. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 41110-9 (2002)

112. Crabbe, L., R. E. Verdun, C. I. Haggblom & J. Karlseder: Defective telomere lagging strand synthesis in cells lacking WRN helicase activity. *Science*, 306, 1951-3 (2004)

113. Opresko, P. L., M. Otterlei, J. Graakjaer, P. Bruheim, L. Dawut, S. Kolvraa, A. May, M. M. Seidman & V. A. Bohr: The Werner syndrome helicase and exonuclease cooperate to resolve telomeric D loops in a manner regulated by TRF1 and TRF2. *Mol Cell*, 14, 763-74 (2004)

114. Lillard-Wetherell, K., A. Machwe, G. T. Langland, K. A. Combs, G. K. Behbehani, S. A. Schonberg, J. German, J. J. Turchi, D. K. Orren & J. Groden: Association and regulation of the BLM helicase by the telomere proteins TRF1 and TRF2. *Hum Mol Genet*, 13, 1919-32 (2004)

115. Opresko, P. L., P. A. Mason, E. R. Podell, M. Lei, I. D. Hickson, T. R. Cech & V. A. Bohr: POT1 stimulates RecQ helicases WRN and BLM to unwind telomeric DNA substrates. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 32069-80 (2005)

116. Stavropoulos, D. J., P. S. Bradshaw, X. Li, I. Pasic, K. Truong, M. Ikura, M. Ungrin & M. S. Meyn: The Bloom syndrome helicase BLM interacts with TRF2 in ALT cells and promotes telomeric DNA synthesis. *Hum Mol Genet*, 11, 3135-44 (2002)

117. Keniry, M. A.: Quadruplex structures in nucleic acids. *Biopolymers*, 56, 123-46 (2001)

118. Neidle, S. & G. N. Parkinson: The structure of telomeric DNA. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 13, 275-83 (2003)

119. Wang, Y. & D. J. Patel: Guanine residues in d(T2AG3) and d(T2G4) form parallel-stranded potassium cation stabilized G-quadruplexes with anti glycosidic torsion angles in solution. *Biochemistry*, 31, 8112-9 (1992) 120. Phan, A. T. & D. J. Patel: Two-repeat human telomeric d(TAGGGTTAGGGT) sequence forms interconverting parallel and antiparallel G-quadruplexes in solution: distinct topologies, thermodynamic properties, and folding/unfolding kinetics. *J Am Chem Soc*, 125, 15021-7 (2003)

121. Parkinson, G. N., M. P. Lee & S. Neidle: Crystal structure of parallel quadruplexes from human telomeric DNA. *Nature*, 417, 876-80 (2002)

122. Zhang, N., A. T. Phan & D. J. Patel: (3 + 1) Assembly of three human telomeric repeats into an asymmetric dimeric G-quadruplex. *J Am Chem Soc*, 127, 17277-85 (2005)

123. Wang, Y. & D. J. Patel: Solution structure of the Oxytricha telomeric repeat d[G4(T4G4)3] G-tetraplex. *J Mol Biol*, 251, 76-94 (1995)

124. Luu, K. N., A. T. Phan, V. Kuryavyi, L. Lacroix & D. J. Patel: Structure of the human telomere in K+ solution: an intramolecular (3 + 1) G-quadruplex scaffold. *J Am Chem Soc*, 128, 9963-70 (2006)

125. Ambrus, A., D. Chen, J. Dai, T. Bialis, R. A. Jones & D. Yang: Human telomeric sequence forms a hybrid-type intramolecular G-quadruplex structure with mixed parallel/antiparallel strands in potassium solution. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 34, 2723-35 (2006)

126. Ying, L., J. J. Green, H. Li, D. Klenerman & S. Balasubramanian: Studies on the structure and dynamics of the human telomeric G quadruplex by single-molecule fluorescence resonance energy transfer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 14629-34 (2003)

127. Lee, J. Y., B. Okumus, D. S. Kim & T. Ha: Extreme conformational diversity in human telomeric DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 18938-43 (2005)

128. Phan, A. T., K. N. Luu & D. J. Patel: Different loop arrangements of intramolecular human telomeric (3+1) G-quadruplexes in K+ solution. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2006)

129. Schaffitzel, C., I. Berger, J. Postberg, J. Hanes, H. J. Lipps & A. Pluckthun: In vitro generated antibodies specific for telomeric guanine-quadruplex DNA react with Stylonychia lemnae macronuclei. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 8572-7 (2001)

130. Paeschke, K., T. Simonsson, J. Postberg, D. Rhodes & H. J. Lipps: Telomere end-binding proteins control the formation of G-quadruplex DNA structures in vivo. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 12, 847-54 (2005)

131. Chang, C. C., I. C. Kuo, I. F. Ling, C. T. Chen, H. C. Chen, P. J. Lou, J. J. Lin & T. C. Chang: Detection of quadruplex DNA structures in human telomeres by a fluorescent carbazole derivative. *Anal Chem*, 76, 4490-4 (2004)

132. Granotier, C., G. Pennarun, L. Riou, F. Hoffschir, L. R. Gauthier, A. De Cian, D. Gomez, E. Mandine, J. F. Riou, J. L. Mergny, P. Mailliet, B. Dutrillaux & F. D. Boussin: Preferential binding of a G-quadruplex ligand to human chromosome ends. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 33, 4182-90 (2005)

133. Arimondo, P. B., J. F. Riou, J. L. Mergny, J. Tazi, J. S. Sun, T. Garestier & C. Helene: Interaction of human DNA topoisomerase I with G-quartet structures. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 28, 4832-8 (2000)

134. Marchand, C., P. Pourquier, G. S. Laco, N. Jing & Y. Pommier: Interaction of human nuclear topoisomerase I with guanosine quartet-forming and guanosine-rich single-stranded DNA and RNA oligonucleotides. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 8906-11 (2002)

135. Mohaghegh, P., J. K. Karow, R. M. Brosh Jr, Jr., V. A. Bohr & I. D. Hickson: The Bloom's and Werner's syndrome proteins are DNA structure-specific helicases. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 29, 2843-9 (2001)

136. Sun, H., J. K. Karow, I. D. Hickson & N. Maizels: The Bloom's syndrome helicase unwinds G4 DNA. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 27587-92 (1998)

137. Enokizono, Y., Y. Konishi, K. Nagata, K. Ouhashi, S. Uesugi, F. Ishikawa & M. Katahira: Structure of hnRNP D complexed with single-stranded telomere DNA and unfolding

of the quadruplex by heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein D. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 18862-70 (2005)

138. Zhang, Q. S., L. Manche, R. M. Xu & A. R. Krainer: hnRNP A1 associates with telomere ends and stimulates telomerase activity. *RNA*, 12, 1116-28 (2006)

139. Fukuda, H., M. Katahira, N. Tsuchiya, Y. Enokizono, T. Sugimura, M. Nagao & H. Nakagama: Unfolding of quadruplex structure in the G-rich strand of the minisatellite repeat by the binding protein UP1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 12685-90 (2002)

140. LaBranche, H., S. Dupuis, Y. Ben-David, M. R. Bani, R. J. Wellinger & B. Chabot: Telomere elongation by hnRNP A1 and a derivative that interacts with telomeric repeats and telomerase. *Nat Genet*, 19, 199-202 (1998)

141. Salas, T. R., I. Petruseva, O. Lavrik, A. Bourdoncle, J. L. Mergny, A. Favre & C. Saintome: Human replication protein A unfolds telomeric G-quadruplexes. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 34, 4857-65 (2006)

142. Vaughn, J. P., S. D. Creacy, E. D. Routh, C. Joyner-Butt, G. S. Jenkins, S. Pauli, Y. Nagamine & S. A. Akman: The DEXH protein product of the DHX36 gene is the major source of tetramolecular quadruplex G4-DNA resolving activity in HeLa cell lysates. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 38117-20 (2005)

143. Kim Sh, S. H., P. Kaminker & J. Campisi: Telomeres, aging and cancer: in search of a happy ending. *Oncogene*, 21, 503-11 (2002)

144. Hahn, W. C., S. A. Stewart, M. W. Brooks, S. G. York, E. Eaton, A. Kurachi, R. L. Beijersbergen, J. H. M. Knoll, M. Maeyerson & R. A. Weinberg: Inhibition of telomerase limits the growth of human cancer cells. *Nat Med.*, *5*, 1164-1170 (1999)

145. Hahn, W. C., C. M. Counter, A. S. Lundberg, R. L. Beijersbergen, M. W. Brooks & R. A. Weinberg: Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. *Nature*, 400, 464-8 (1999)

146. Shay, J. W. & S. Bacchetti: A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer. *Eur J Cancer*, 33, 787-791 (1997)

147. Kelland, L. R.: Overcoming the immortality of tumour cells by telomere and telomerase based cancer therapeutics-current status and future prospects. *Eur J Cancer*, 41, 971-9 (2005)

148. Zhu, J., H. Wang, J. M. Bishop & E. H. Blackburn: Telomerase extends the lifespan of virus-transformed human cells without net telomere lengthening. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 3723-8 (1999)

149. Stewart, S. A., W. C. Hahn, B. F. O'Connor, E. N. Banner, A. S. Lundberg, P. Modha, H. Mizuno, M. W. Brooks, M. Fleming, D. B. Zimonjic, N. C. Popescu & R. A. Weinberg: Telomerase contributes to tumorigenesis by a telomere length-independent mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A*, 99, 12606-11 (2002)

150. Cao, Y., H. Li, S. Deb & J. P. Liu: TERT regulates cell survival independent of telomerase enzymatic activity. *Oncogene*, 21, 3130-8 (2002)

151. Rahman, R., L. Latonen & K. G. Wiman: hTERT antagonizes p53-induced apoptosis independently of telomerase activity. *Oncogene*, 24, 1320-7 (2005)

152. Brachner, A., S. Sasgary, C. Pirker, C. Rodgarkia, M. Mikula, W. Mikulits, H. Bergmeister, U. Setinek, M. Wieser, S. F. Chin, C. Caldas, M. Micksche, C. Cerni & W. Berger: Telomerase- and alternative telomere lengthening-independent

telomere stabilization in a metastasis-derived human non-small cell lung cancer cell line: effect of ectopic hTERT. *Cancer Res*, 66, 3584-92 (2006)

153. Massard, C., Y. Zermati, A. L. Pauleau, N. Larochette, D. Metivier, L. Sabatier, G. Kroemer & J. C. Soria: hTERT: a novel endogenous inhibitor of the mitochondrial cell death pathway. *Oncogene* (2006)

154. Nakamura, M., K. Masutomi, S. Kyo, M. Hashimoto, Y. Maida, T. Kanaya, M. Tanaka, W. C. Hahn & M. Inoue: Efficient inhibition of human telomerase reverse transcriptase expression by RNA interference sensitizes cancer cells to ionizing radiation and chemotherapy. *Hum Gene Ther*, 16, 859-68 (2005)

155. Haendeler, J., J. Hoffmann, S. Rahman, A. M. Zeiher & S. Dimmeler: Regulation of telomerase activity and anti-apoptotic function by protein-protein interaction and phosphorylation. *FEBS Lett*, 536, 180-6 (2003)

156. Masutomi, K., R. Possemato, J. M. Wong, J. L. Currier, Z. Tothova, J. B. Manola, S. Ganesan, P. M. Lansdorp, K. Collins & W. C. Hahn: The telomerase reverse transcriptase regulates chromatin state and DNA damage responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 8222-7 (2005)

157. Boldrini, L., S. Pistolesi, S. Gisfredi, S. Ursino, G. Ali, N. Pieracci, F. Basolo, G. Parenti & G. Fontanini: Telomerase activity and hTERT mRNA expression in glial tumors. *Int J Oncol*, 28, 1555-60 (2006)

158. Zhu, C. Q., J. C. Cutz, N. Liu, D. Lau, F. A. Shepherd, J. A. Squire & M. S. Tsao: Amplification of telomerase (hTERT) gene is a poor prognostic marker in non-small-cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer, 94, 1452-9 (2006)

159. Domont, J., T. M. Pawlik, V. Boige, M. Rose, J. C. Weber, P. M. Hoff, T. D. Brown, D. Zorzi, L. Morat, J. P. Pignon, A. Rashid, D. Jaeck, L. Sabatier, D. Elias, T. Tursz, J. C. Soria & J. N. Vauthey: Catalytic subunit of human telomerase reverse transcriptase is an independent predictor of survival in patients undergoing curative resection of hepatic colorectal metastases: a multicenter analysis. J Clin Oncol, 23, 3086-93 (2005)

160. Poremba, C., B. Heine, R. Diallo, A. Heinecke, D. Wai, K. L. Schaefer, Y. Braun, A. Schuck, C. Lanvers, A. Bankfalvi, S. Kneif, J. Torhorst, M. Zuber, O. R. Kochli, F. Mross, H. Dieterich, G. Sauter, H. Stein, F. Fogt & W. Boecker: Telomerase as a prognostic marker in breast cancer: high-throughput tissue microarray analysis of hTERT and hTR. J Pathol, 198, 181-9 (2002) 161. Clark, G. M., C. K. Osborne, D. Levitt, F. Wu & N. W. Kim: Telomerase activity and survival of patients with node-positive breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 89, 1874-81 (1997)

162. Kubuki, Y., M. Suzuki, H. Sasaki, T. Toyama, K. Yamashita, K. Maeda, A. Ido, H. Matsuoka, A. Okayama, T. Nakanishi & H. Tsubouchi: Telomerase activity and telomere length as prognostic factors of adult T-cell leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma, 46, 393-9 (2005)

163. Verstovsek, S., T. Manshouri, F. O. Smith, F. J. Giles, J. Cortes, E. Estey, H. Kantarjian, M. Keating, S. Jeha & M. Albitar: Telomerase activity is prognostic in pediatric patients with acute myeloid leukemia:

comparison with adult acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer, 97, 2212-7 (2003)

164. Bechter, O. E., W. Eisterer, G. Pall, W. Hilbe, T. Kuhr & J. Thaler: Telomere length and telomerase activity predict survival in patients with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer Res*, 58, 4918-22 (1998)

165. Costa, A., M. G. Daidone, L. Daprai, R. Villa, S. Cantu, S. Pilotti, L. Mariani, A. Gronchi, J. D. Henson, R. R. Reddel & N. Zaffaroni: Telomere maintenance mechanisms in liposarcomas: association with histologic subtypes and disease progression. *Cancer Res*, 66, 8918-24 (2006)

166. Yamada, M., N. Tsuji, M. Nakamura, R. Moriai, D. Kobayashi, A. Yagihashi & N. Watanabe: Down-regulation of TRF1, TRF2 and TIN2 genes is important to maintain telomeric DNA for gastric cancers. *Anticancer Res*, 22, 3303-7 (2002)

167. La Torre, D., O. de Divitiis, A. Conti, F. F. Angileri, S. Cardali, M. Aguennouz, M. Aragona, S. Panetta, D. d'Avella, G. Vita, F. La Torre & F. Tomasello: Expression of telomeric repeat binding factor-1 in astroglial brain tumors. *Neurosurgery*, 56, 802-10 (2005)

168. Hu, J., L. Sun, C. Zhang & X. Zhou: Expression of telomeric repeat binding factor 1 in non-small cell lung cancer. *J Surg Oncol*, 93, 62-7 (2006)

169. Yamada, K., A. Yagihashi, M. Yamada, K. Asanuma, R. Moriai, D. Kobayashi, N. Tsuji & N. Watanabe: Decreased gene expression for telomeric-repeat binding factors and TIN2 in malignant hematopoietic cells. *Anticancer Res*, 22, 1315-20 (2002)

170. Garcia-Aranda, C., C. de Juan, A. Diaz-Lopez, A. Sanchez-Pernaute, A. J. Torres, E. Diaz-Rubio, J. L. Balibrea, M. Benito & P. Iniesta: Correlations of telomere length, telomerase activity, and telomeric-repeat binding factor 1 expression in colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 106, 541-51 (2006)

171. Bellon, M., A. Datta, M. Brown, J. F. Pouliquen, P. Couppie, M. Kazanji & C. Nicot: Increased expression of telomere length regulating factors TRF1, TRF2 and TIN2 in patients with adult T-cell leukemia. *Int J Cancer*, 119, 2090-7 (2006)

172. Matsutani, N., H. Yokozaki, E. Tahara, H. Tahara, H. Kuniyasu, K. Haruma, K. Chayama & W. Yasui: Expression of telomeric repeat binding factor 1 and 2 and TRF1-interacting nuclear protein 2 in human gastric carcinomas. *Int J Oncol*, 19, 507-12 (2001)

173. Oh, B. K., Y. J. Kim, C. Park & Y. N. Park: Upregulation of telomere-binding proteins, TRF1, TRF2, and TIN2 is related to telomere shortening during human multistep hepatocarcinogenesis. *Am J Pathol*, 166, 73-80 (2005)

174. Ning, H., T. Li, L. Zhao, J. Li, J. Liu, Z. Liu & D. Fan: TRF2 Promotes Multidrug Resistance in Gastric Cancer Cells. *Cancer Biol Ther*, 5, 950-956 (2006)

175. Lin, X., J. Gu, C. Lu, M. R. Spitz & X. Wu: Expression of telomere-associated genes as prognostic markers for overall survival in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 12, 5720-5 (2006)

176. Kondo, T., N. Oue, K. Yoshida, Y. Mitani, K. Naka, H. Nakayama & W. Yasui: Expression of POT1 is associated with tumor stage and telomere length in gastric carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 64, 523-9 (2004) 177. Ishii, A., K. I. Nakamura, H. Kishimoto, N. Honma, J. Aida, M. Sawabe, T. Arai, M. Fujiwara, F. Takeuchi, M. Kato, M. Oshimura, N. Izumiyama & K. Takubo: Telomere shortening with aging in the human pancreas. *Exp Gerontol*, 41, 882-886 (2006)

178. Melk, A., V. Ramassar, L. M. Helms, R. Moore, D. Rayner, K. Solez & P. F. Halloran: Telomere shortening in kidneys with age. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 11, 444-53 (2000)

179. Cherif, H., J. L. Tarry, S. E. Ozanne & C. N. Hales: Ageing and telomeres: a study into organ- and genderspecific telomere shortening. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 31, 1576-83 (2003)

180. Fitzpatrick, A. L., R. A. Kronmal, J. P. Gardner, B. M. Psaty, N. S. Jenny, R. P. Tracy, J. Walston, M. Kimura & A. Aviv: Leukocyte Telomere Length and Cardiovascular Disease in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Am J Epidemiol (2006)

181. Harris, S. E., I. J. Deary, A. MacIntyre, K. J. Lamb, K. Radhakrishnan, J. M. Starr, L. J. Whalley & P. G. Shiels: The association between telomere length, physical health, cognitive ageing, and mortality in non-demented older people. Neurosci Lett, 406, 260-4 (2006)

182. Martin-Ruiz, C., H. O. Dickinson, B. Keys, E. Rowan, R. A. Kenny & T. Von Zglinicki: Telomere length predicts poststroke mortality, dementia, and cognitive decline. Ann Neurol, 60, 174-80 (2006)

183. Cawthon, R. M., K. R. Smith, E. O'Brien, A. Sivatchenko & R. A. Kerber: Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older. Lancet, 361, 393-5 (2003)

184. Martin-Ruiz, C. M., J. Gussekloo, D. van Heemst, T. von Zglinicki & R. G. Westendorp: Telomere length in white blood cells is not associated with morbidity or mortality in the oldest old: a population-based study. Aging Cell, 4, 287-90 (2005)

185. Oikawa, S., S. Tada-Oikawa & S. Kawanishi: Sitespecific DNA damage at the GGG sequence by UVA involves acceleration of telomere shortening. Biochemistry, 40, 4763-8 (2001)

186. Saretzki, G. & T. Von Zglinicki: Replicative aging, telomeres, and oxidative stress. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 959, 24-9 (2002)

187. Epel, E. S., E. H. Blackburn, J. Lin, F. S. Dhabhar, N. E. Adler, J. D. Morrow & R. M. Cawthon: Accelerated telomere shortening in response to life stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 101, 17312-5 (2004)

188. Valdes, A. M., T. Andrew, J. P. Gardner, M. Kimura, E. Oelsner, L. F. Cherkas, A. Aviv & T. D. Spector: Obesity, cigarette smoking, and telomere length in women. Lancet, 366, 662-4 (2005)

189. Ly, H., R. T. Calado, P. Allard, G. M. Baerlocher, P. M. Lansdorp, N. S. Young & T. G. Parslow: Functional characterization of telomerase RNA variants found in patients with hematologic disorders. Blood, 105, 2332-9 (2005)

190. Mason, P. J., D. B. Wilson & M. Bessler: Dyskeratosis congenita -- a disease of dysfunctional telomere maintenance. Curr Mol Med, 5, 159-70 (2005) 191. Chen, J. L. & C. W. Greider: Telomerase RNA structure and function: implications for dyskeratosis congenita. Trends Biochem Sci, 29, 183-92 (2004) 192. Armanios, M., J. L. Chen, Y. P. Chang, R. A. Brodsky, A. Hawkins, C. A. Griffin, J. R. Eshleman, A. R. Cohen, A. Chakravarti, A. Hamosh & C. W. Greider: Haploinsufficiency of telomerase reverse transcriptase leads to anticipation in autosomal dominant dyskeratosis congenita. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 15960-4 (2005) 193. Xin, Z. T., A. D. Beauchamp, R. T. Calado, J. W. Bradford, J. A. Regal, A. Shenoy, Y. Liang, P. M. Lansdorp, N. S. Young & H. Ly: Functional characterization of natural telomerase mutations found in patients with hematological disorders. *Blood* 109, 524-32 (2007)

194. Wong, J. M. & K. Collins: Telomerase RNA level limits telomere maintenance in X-linked dyskeratosis congenita. *Genes Dev*, 20, 2848-58 (2006)

195. Stewart, G. S., R. S. Maser, T. Stankovic, D. A. Bressan, M. I. Kaplan, N. G. Jaspers, A. Raams, P. J. Byrd, J. H. Petrini & A. M. Taylor: The DNA double-strand break repair gene hMRE11 is mutated in individuals with an ataxia-telangiectasia-like disorder. *Cell*, 99, 577-87 (1999)

196. Ranganathan, V., W. F. Heine, D. N. Ciccone, K. L. Rudolph, X. Wu, S. Chang, H. Hai, I. M. Ahearn, D. M. Livingston, I. Resnick, F. Rosen, E. Seemanova, P. Jarolim, R. A. DePinho & D. T. Weaver: Rescue of a telomere length defect of Nijmegen breakage syndrome cells requires NBS and telomerase catalytic subunit. *Curr Biol*, 11, 962-6 (2001)

197. Metcalfe, J. A., J. Parkhill, L. Campbell, M. Stacey, P. Biggs, P. J. Byrd & A. M. Taylor: Accelerated telomere shortening in ataxia telangiectasia. Nat Genet, 13, 350-3 (1996)

198. Callen, E., E. Samper, M. J. Ramirez, A. Creus, R. Marcos, J. J. Ortega, T. Olive, I. Badell, M. A. Blasco & J. Surralles: Breaks at telomeres and TRF2-independent end fusions in Fanconi anemia. Hum Mol Genet, 11, 439-44 (2002)

199. Leteurtre, F., X. Li, P. Guardiola, G. Le Roux, J. C. Sergere, P. Richard, E. D. Carosella & E. Gluckman: Accelerated telomere shortening and telomerase activation in Fanconi's anaemia. Br J Haematol, 105, 883-93 (1999)

200. Joenje, H., F. Arwert, A. W. Eriksson, H. de Koning & A. B. Oostra: Oxygen-dependence of chromosomal aberrations in Fanconi's anaemia. Nature, 290, 142-3 (1981)

201. Bachrati, C. Z. & I. D. Hickson: RecQ helicases: suppressors of tumorigenesis and premature aging. Biochem J, 374, 577-606 (2003)

202. Shay, J. W. & W. E. Wright: Telomerase therapeutics for cancer: challenges and new directions. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 5, 577-84 (2006)

203. White, L. K., W. E. Wright & J. W. Shay: Telomerase inhibitors. Trends Biotechnol, 19, 114-120 (2001)

204. Corey, D. R.: Telomerase inhibition, oligonucleotides, and clinical trials. Oncogene, 21, 631-7 (2002)

205. Rezler, E. M., D. J. Bearss & L. H. Hurley: Telomere inhibition and telomere disruption as processes for drug targeting. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 43, 359-79 (2003) 206. Saretzki, G.: Telomerase inhibition as cancer therapy. Cancer Lett, 194, 209-19 (2003)

207. Zhang, X., Z. Chen, Y. Chen & T. Tong: Delivering antisense telomerase RNA by a hybrid adenovirus/ adenoassociated virus significantly suppresses the malignant phenotype and enhances cell apoptosis of human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 22, 2405-16 (2003)

208. Kraemer, K., S. Fuessel, U. Schmidt, M. Kotzsch, B. Schwenzer, M. P. Wirth & A. Meye: Antisense-mediated hTERT inhibition specifically reduces the growth of human bladder cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res*, 9, 3794-800 (2003)

209. Brambilla, C., M. Folini, P. Gandellini, L. Daprai, M. G. Daidone & N. Zaffaroni: Oligomer-mediated modulation of hTERT alternative splicing induces telomerase inhibition and cell growth decline in human prostate cancer cells. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, 61, 1764-74 (2004)

210. Folini, M., C. Brambilla, R. Villa, P. Gandellini, S. Vignati, F. Paduano, M. G. Daidone & N. Zaffaroni: Antisense oligonucleotide-mediated inhibition of hTERT, but not hTERC, induces rapid cell growth decline and apoptosis in the absence of telomere shortening in human prostate cancer cells. *Eur J Cancer*, 41, 624-34 (2005)

211. Strahl, C. & E. H. Blackburn: Effects of reverse transcriptase inhibitors on telomere length and telomerase activity in two immortalized human cell lines. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 53-65 (1996)

212. Fletcher, T. M., B. E. Cathers, K. S. Ravikumar, B. M. Mamiya & S. M. Kerwin: Inhibition of human telomerase by 7-deaza-2'-deoxyguanosine nucleoside triphosphate analogs: potent inhibition by 6-thio-7-deaza-2'-deoxyguanosine 5'-triphosphate. *Bioorganic Chemistry*, 29, 36-55 (2001)

213. Takahashi, H., R. Amano, M. Saneyoshi, T. Maruyama & T. Yamaguchi: Inhibition of vertebrate telomerases by the triphosphate derivatives of carbocyclic oxetanocin analogs. *Nucleic Acids Res Suppl*, 285-6 (2003)

214. Kim, J. H., G. E. Lee, J. E. Lee & I. K. Chung: Potent inhibition of human telomerase by nitrostyrene derivatives. *Mol Pharmacol*, 63, 1117-24 (2003)

215. Kim, J. H., G. E. Lee, S. W. Kim & I. K. Chung: Identification of a quinoxaline derivative that is a potent telomerase inhibitor leading to cellular senescence of human cancer cells. *Biochem J*, 373, 523-9 (2003)

216. Damm, K., U. Hemmann, P. Garin-Chesa, N. Hauel, I. Kauffmann, H. Priepke, C. Niestroj, C. Daiber, B. Enenkel, B. Guilliard, I. Lauritsch, E. Muller, E. Pascolo, G. Sauter, M. Pantic, U. M. Martens, C. Wenz, J. Lingner, N. Kraut, W. J. Rettig & A. Schnapp: A highly selective telomerase inhibitor limiting human cancer cell proliferation. *EMBO J*, 20, 6958-68 (2001)

217. Hayakawa, N., K. Nozawa, A. Ogawa, N. Kato, K. Yoshida, K. Akamatsu, M. Tsuchiya, A. Nagasaka & S. Yoshida: Isothiazolone derivatives selectively inhibit telomerase from human and rat cancer cells *in vitro*. *Biochemistry*, 38, 11501-11507 (1999)

218. Kondo, S., Y. Kondo, G. Li, R. H. Silverman & J. K. Cowell: Targeted therapy of human malignant glioma in a mouse model by 2-5A antisense directed against telomerase RNA. *Oncogene*, 16, 3323-30 (1998)

219. Chen, Z., K. S. Koeneman & D. R. Corey: Consequences of telomerase inhibition and combination

treatments for the proliferation of cancer cells. *Cancer Res*, 63, 5917-25 (2003)

220. Dikmen, Z. G., G. C. Gellert, S. Jackson, S. Gryaznov, R. Tressler, P. Dogan, W. E. Wright & J. W. Shay: In vivo inhibition of lung cancer by GRN163L: a novel human telomerase inhibitor. *Cancer Res*, 65, 7866-73 (2005)

221. Villa, R., M. Folini, C. D. Porta, A. Valentini, M. Pennati, M. G. Daidone & N. Zaffaroni: Inhibition of telomerase activity by geldanamycin and 17-allylamino, 17-demethoxygeldanamycin in human melanoma cells. *Carcinogenesis*, 24, 851-9 (2003)

222. Keppler, B. R. & M. B. Jarstfer: A highthroughput assay for a human telomerase protein-human telomerase RNA interaction. *Anal Biochem*, 353, 75-82 (2006)

223. Dominick, P. K., B. K. Keppler, J. D. Legassie, I. K. Moon & M. B. Jarstfer: Nucleic-Acid Binding Ligands Identify New Mechanisms to Inhibit Telomerase. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 14, 3467-3471 (2004)

224. Kim, M. M., M. A. Rivera, I. L. Botchkina, R. Shalaby, A. D. Thor & E. H. Blackburn: A low threshold level of expression of mutant-template telomerase RNA inhibits human tumor cell proliferation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 7982-7 (2001)

225. Li, S., J. E. Rosenberg, A. A. Donjacour, I. L. Botchkina, Y. K. Hom, G. R. Cunha & E. H. Blackburn: Rapid inhibition of cancer cell growth induced by lentiviral delivery and expression of mutant-template telomerase RNA and anti-telomerase short-interfering RNA. Cancer Res, 64, 4833-40 (2004)

226. Vonderheide, R. H., S. M. Domchek, J. L. Schultze, D. J. George, K. M. Hoar, D. Y. Chen, K. F. Stephans, K. Masutomi, M. Loda, Z. Xia, K. S. Anderson, W. C. Hahn & L. M. Nadler: Vaccination of cancer patients against telomerase induces functional antitumor CD8+ T lymphocytes. Clin Cancer Res, 10, 828-39 (2004)

227. Hurley, L. H., R. T. Wheelhouse, D. Sun, S. M. Kerwin, M. Salazar, O. Y. Fedoroff, F. X. Han, H. Han, E. Izbicka & D. D. Von Hoff: G-quadruplexes as targets for drug design. Pharmacol Ther, 85, 151-158 (2000)

228. Cuesta, J., M. A. Read & S. Neidle: The design of G-quadruplex ligands as telomerase inhibitors. *Mini Rev Med Chem*, 3, 11-21 (2003)

229. Rangan, A., O. Y. Fedoroff & L. H. Hurley: Induction of duplex to G-quadruplex transition in the c-myc promoter region by a small molecule. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 4640-6 (2001)

230. Gomez, D., T. Lemarteleur, L. Lacroix, P. Mailliet, J. L. Mergny & J. F. Riou: Telomerase downregulation induced by the G-quadruplex ligand 12459 in A549 cells is mediated by hTERT RNA alternative splicing. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 32, 371-9 (2004)

231. Sun, D., B. Thompson, B. E. Cathers, M. Salazar, S. M. Kerwin, J. O. Trent, T. C. Jenkins, S. Neidle & L. H. Hurley: Inhibition of human telomerase by a G-quadruplex-interactive compound. *J Med Chem*, 40, 2113-6 (1997)

232. Gowan, S. M., J. R. Harrison, L. Patterson, M. Valenti, M. A. Read, S. Neidle & L. R. Kelland: A Gquadruplex-interactive potent small-molecule inhibitor of telomerase exhibiting in vitro and in vivo antitumor activity. *Mol Pharmacol*, 61, 1154-62 (2002)

233. Shin-ya, K., K. Wierzba, K. Matsuo, T. Ohtani, Y. Yamada, K. Furihata, Y. Hayakawa & H. Seto: Telomestatin, a novel telomerase inhibitor from *Streptomyces anulatus. J Am Chem Soc*, 123, 1262-1263 (2001)

234. Gomez, D., M. F. O'Donohue, T. Wenner, C. Douarre, J. Macadre, P. Koebel, M. J. Giraud-Panis, H. Kaplan, A. Kolkes, K. Shin-ya & J. F. Riou: The Gquadruplex ligand telomestatin inhibits POT1 binding to telomeric sequences in vitro and induces GFP-POT1 dissociation from telomeres in human cells. *Cancer Res*, 66, 6908-12 (2006)

235. Gomez, D., T. Wenner, B. Brassart, C. Douarre, F. O'Donohue M, V. El Khoury, K. Shin-Ya, H. Morjani, C. Trentesaux & J. F. Riou: Telomestatin induced telomere uncapping is modulated by POT1 through G-overhang extension in HT1080 human tumor cells. *J Biol Chem* (2006)

236. Tahara, H., K. Shin-Ya, H. Seimiya, H. Yamada, T. Tsuruo & T. Ide: G-Quadruplex stabilization by telomestatin induces TRF2 protein dissociation from telomeres and anaphase bridge formation accompanied by loss of the 3' telomeric overhang in cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 25, 1955-66 (2006)

237. Li, J. L., R. J. Harrison, A. P. Reszka, R. M. Brosh, Jr., V. A. Bohr, S. Neidle & I. D. Hickson: Inhibition of the Bloom's and Werner's syndrome helicases by G-quadruplex interacting ligands. *Biochemistry*, 40, 15194-202 (2001)

238. Shay, J. W. & W. E. Wright: Use of telomerase to create bioengineered tissues. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1057, 479-91 (2005)

239. Thomas, M., L. Yang & P. J. Hornsby: Formation of functional tissue from transplanted adrenocortical cells expressing telomerase reverse transcriptase. *Nat Biotechnol*, 18, 39-42 (2000)

240. Roy, N. S., T. Nakano, H. M. Keyoung, M. Windrem, W. K. Rashbaum, M. L. Alonso, J. Kang, W. Peng, M. K. Carpenter, J. Lin, M. Nedergaard & S. A. Goldman: Telomerase immortalization of neuronally restricted progenitor cells derived from the human fetal spinal cord. *Nat Biotechnol*, 22, 297-305 (2004)

241. Roy, N. S., C. Cleren, S. K. Singh, L. Yang, M. F. Beal & S. A. Goldman: Functional engraftment of human ES cell-derived dopaminergic neurons enriched by coculture with telomerase-immortalized midbrain astrocytes. *Nat Med* (2006)

242. Klinger, R. Y., J. L. Blum, B. Hearn, B. Lebow & L. E. Niklason: Relevance and safety of telomerase for human tissue engineering. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 2500-5 (2006)

243. Narushima, M., N. Kobayashi, T. Okitsu, Y. Tanaka, S. A. Li, Y. Chen, A. Miki, K. Tanaka, S. Nakaji, K. Takei, A. S. Gutierrez, J. D. Rivas-Carrillo, N. Navarro-Alvarez, H. S. Jun, K. A. Westerman, H. Noguchi, J. R. Lakey, P. Leboulch, N. Tanaka & J. W. Yoon: A human beta-cell line for transplantation therapy to control type 1 diabetes. *Nat Biotechnol*, 23, 1274-82 (2005)

**Key Words:** Telomere, Telomeric DNA, Telomere Binding Proteins, Aging, Cancer, Review

**Send correspondence to:** Dr. Michael B. Jarstfer, Division of Medicinal Chemistry and Natural Products, CB # 7360, School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7360, Tel: 919-966-6422, Fax: 919-966-0204, E-mail: jarstfer@unc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm